URINARY AND VAGINAL MICROBIOME COMMUNITY STRUCTURE IN WOMEN WITH URGENCY URINARY INCONTINENCE

Identification of bacteria in the urinary and vaginal microbiomes associated with urgency urinary incontinence using microbial co-occurrence networks

By

Eric T Leung

Bachelor of Arts in Mathematics, University of Oklahoma, 2013 Bachelor of Science in Biochemistry, University of Oklahoma, 2013

A THESIS

Presented to the

Department of Medical Informatics & Clinical Epidemiology

and

Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Biomedical Informatics

Bioinformatics & Computational Biology

December 2020

© Eric T Leung 2020 All Rights Reserved

Abstract

Urgency urinary incontinence (UUI) is a chronic, burdensome condition with urges to urinate that are difficult to defer and results in urinary leakage. UUI impinges on an individual's quality of life, and affects about 15% of American women. Despite the heavy burden of UUI, we still have a poor understanding of the condition and how to most efficiently triage patients to the most effective treatment.

The microbiome is recognized to play a role in genitourinary health. The vaginal microbiome is long known to inhabit the vaginal tract and play an important role in maintaining genitourinary health and preventing disease. Conversely, the bladder was thought to be sterile in the absence of an acute clinical infection, but recent studies have overturned this paradigm and have identified microbes in the bladder of healthy individuals. This has led to emerging evidence to show that changes in the microbiome of the bladder may play an important role in the pathophysiology of UUI.

More specifically, decreased diversity in the urinary microbiome is associated with increased symptom severity for women with UUI. Moreover, the presence or absence of specific microbes is associated with UUI. In contrast, little work has explored the relationship of the known vaginal microbiome to either the urinary microbiome or UUI symptoms. Moreover, current computational methods used to study the urinary microbiome neglect the underlying ecology of bacteria.

Here, we leverage network-based methods to propose a framework to generate microbial co-occurrence network structures to identify bacteria in the urinary and vaginal microbiomes associated with UUI. Network-based methods allow for hypothesis generation of the underlying microbial community dynamics. Ultimately, these network structures facilitate exploration of novel, therapeutic microbial targets while also being ecologically aware of the therapeutic effects on the community structure.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I have to thank my research supervisors, Drs. Eilis Boudreau and Lisa Karstens. Their combined wisdom, attention, and guidance was instrumental in every step throughout this process. Being an effective researcher is difficult work and they have consistently inspired me to be better. Eilis kept my work clinically grounded and would always give me the high-level perspective to guide my work in the event of indecision during my research work. Lisa taught me to never settle, constantly question the validity of the results, and being accountable to my work. I greatly appreciate and thank them for their support over these past number of years to help me grow as a researcher.

I would also like to express my sincere thanks to my committee, including Drs. Guanming Wu and Tim Nice. Guanming has helped me from day one of my graduate school career when he gave me an opportunity to do a research rotation with him, and has since pushed me to go and beyond to think critically about the work I produce. Tim brought a fresh perspective to my work that pushed me to consider the deeper biological implications of my work. I would also like to honor and give a special thanks to Dr. Mark Asquith. Although our time together was brought short due to his passing, Mark gave me the opportunity for hands-on work in his lab, which was a timely reminder of the hard work that goes into generating data. Moreover, he built a lab around highly capable people who I have had the pleasure to work with and receive help from. Mark was also generous with his enthusiasm and brilliance on the projects we worked on together. I can only hope to carry on that enthusiasm and love of science with me to share with others.

The Karstens' lab has been my academic home while I pursued my research. Despite its membership naturally changing since I have been a part of it, all who have joined and moved on have been generous with their time and feedback whenever I needed to present new research during journal club or giving me a chance to share and practice sharing pieces of my research work. I am forever grateful to having a group of colleagues to test out hypotheses and engage in scientific discussion.

I would like to thank the Division of Urogynecology at OHSU, especially Drs. Ian Fields, W. Thomas Gregory, and Rahel Nardos. They all have welcomed me into their clinical world and have been gracious teachers of their craft. This work also would not have been possible without the study participants involved in this study, and I thank them for their time and contributions to advancing science.

I also could not have taken on this journey without my fellow graduate students and colleagues. By the nature of being a student, many have joined and graduated the program. Each of them have played a role in sharing their perspectives and unique experiences that have rounded out my professional development. Special thanks to Rory Blucher, Ben Cordier, Rose Goueth, Kristen Stevens, and Ryan Swan for their support, perspective, and scientific fun throughout my journey.

The capable staff of the department (Diane, Lauren, Andrea, Lynne, and others) were all generous with their time to make my graduate school experience as smooth as possible from the very beginning when I applied to the program with hopeful eyes. I would also like to give a special thanks to Virginia Lankes for reminding me at least once a year during my

annual review that my time in graduate school is just the beginning and that there is life and work outside of school.

My work would not have been possible without research funding from the Society of Urodynamics, Female Pelvic Medicine & Urogenital Reconstruction (SUFU) and the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) (K01 DK116706). A special thanks is deserving to the National Library of Medicine (T15LM007088) for their training grant that funded this research and my professional development throughout my time in graduate school.

Finally, I must show my deepest gratitude to my parents and brother for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement through not only my years of study and research work, but also the many years of school and upbringing before.

Table of Contents

| 1 | Introduction | | | 7 | |
|---|--|-------------|---|-------|--|
| | 1.1 | Sta | tement of aims | 11 | |
| | 1.2 | Ain | im 1 background | | |
| | 1.2.1 | | Current understanding of urgency urinary incontinence in women | 12 | |
| | 1.2.2 | | Current medical treatment guidelines | 15 | |
| | 1.2.3 | | Treatment limitations for physicians and patients | 17 | |
| | 1.2.4 unders | | The Human Microbiome Project to facilitate progress in host-microbe tanding | 18 | |
| | 1.2.5 | | Urinary microbiome, vaginal microbiome, and urgency urinary incontinen | ce 20 | |
| | 1.2.6 | | From neglect to recognition of the urinary microbiome | 21 | |
| | 1.2.7 | | Urinary microbiome and urgency urinary incontinence | 24 | |
| | 1.2.8 | | Summary | 26 | |
| | 1.3 | Ain | n 2 background | 27 | |
| | 1.3 | 3.1 | Current limitations in established methods | 29 | |
| | 1.3.2 | | Microbial ecology to study microbial communities | 29 | |
| | 1.3.3 | | Microbial co-occurrence networks | 32 | |
| | 1.3 | 3.4 | Growing evidence for connected urogenital microbiome | 32 | |
| 2 | Urinary | | y and vaginal microbial differences and urgency urinary incontinence | 35 | |
| | 2.1 | Abs | stract | 35 | |
| | 2.2 | Inti | roduction | 36 | |
| | 2.3 | 2.3 Methods | | 37 | |
| | 2.3 | 3.1 | Study population and design | 37 | |
| | 2.3.2 | | DNA extraction and PCR amplification | 40 | |
| | 2.3.3 | | Sequence processing, taxonomic assignment, and phylogenetic tree building | ng 41 | |
| | 2.3.4 | | Statistical analyses | 42 | |
| | 2.4 | Res | sults | 44 | |
| | 2.5 | Dis | cussion | 55 | |
| | 2.6 | Lin | nitations | 57 | |
| | 2.7 | Cor | nclusion | 58 | |
| 3 | Urinary and vaginal microbial co-occurrence and urgency urinary incontinence | | | | |
| | 3.1 | Abs | stract | 60 | |
| | 3.2 | Inti | roduction | 61 | |
| | 3.3 | Me | thods | 61 | |

| | 3.3 | 1 Network analysis | .61 |
|---|-----|--|-----|
| | 3.4 | Results | .62 |
| | 3.5 | Discussion | .69 |
| | 3.6 | Limitations | .70 |
| | 3.7 | Conclusion | .71 |
| 4 | Dis | cussion and conclusions | .73 |
| 5 | Fut | ure work | .74 |
| | 5.1 | Interconnected urogenital microbial co-occurrence network | .74 |
| | 5.2 | Explore other correlation methods applied to low-biomass microbiomes | .75 |
| | 5.3 | Negative correlations | .75 |
| | 5.4 | Temporal networks | .75 |
| | 5.5 | Construct networks based on urotype and community state type | .76 |
| | 5.6 | Focus on disease and pathogen networks | .76 |
| | 5.7 | Consensus network from multiple methods | .77 |
| | 5.8 | In vitro validation of microbial interactions | .77 |
| 6 | Ref | erences | .78 |

1 Introduction

Urgency urinary incontinence (UUI) is a common but chronic condition characterized by a sensation ("urge") to urinate that is difficult to defer and often results in involuntary loss ("leakage") of urine (Abrams et al. 2002). It affects women to a much greater extent than men, which negatively impacts their quality of life, mental health, and financial well-being (Powell et al. 2018; Dugan et al. 1998; Robinson and Pearce 1998).

There are three known etiologies for UUI: detrusor overactivity, poor detrusor compliance, and bladder hypersensitivity (Aoki et al. 2017). Each of these etiologies involve different anatomical structures of the bladder. Detrusor overactivity is the spontaneous contraction of the detrusor muscle that an individual cannot defer. Poor detrusor compliance occurs when the detrusor muscles are unable to properly stretch when filling with urine, resulting in increased pressure that leads to leakage. Last, emerging evidence suggests that the bladder urothelium, the epithelial cells that line the inside of the bladder, is not a passive barrier, but is involved in bladder sensory signaling. Furthermore, people with urinary urgency have an increased number of these sensory receptors (Li et al. 2011).

The approach to treatment is iterative and tiered, starting with behavioral changes, followed by medication management and then finally surgery if symptoms do not respond to these previous measures. However, all levels of treatment have high attrition rates (Wyman, Burgio, and Newman 2009; Komesu et al. 2011). Anticholinergic drugs are the most common class of medications and they work by relaxing the detrusor muscle, the smooth muscles that line the bladder. However, up to 50% of women have intolerable side-effects including dry mouth, dry eyes, and constipation (Hartmann et al. 2009). In elderly patients, these drugs can worsen symptoms of dementia, which can then be difficult to

prescribe to older patients (Gray et al. 2015; Coupland et al. 2019; American Urogynecologic Society (AUGS) Guidelines Committee with the assistance of Tonya N. Thomas and D. 2017). Moreover, these side-effects may worsen more in the elderly because of interactions with other drugs they may be taking and the changes in their body's ability to metabolize drugs (Thüroff et al. 1998).

More recently, with the recognition that the bladder urothelium is an active and responsive barrier, attention is being focused on how inflammation and infection can contribute to the etiology of urinary incontinence. Historically, the bladder was thought to be sterile in the absence of an acute infection. However, with more widespread use of highthroughput sequencing and use of transurethral catheters to avoid contamination, it has been realized that bacteria are normally present in the bladder (Wolfe et al. 2012). Additionally, the development of an alternative culturing method, called expanded quantitative urine culture (EQUC), has further demonstrated the presence of living bacteria in the female bladder (Hilt et al. 2014). In short, the detection of these commensal bacteria in the bladder is the first step to focus on how infection and inflammation contribute to UUI.

It has increasingly been appreciated that there are differences in the microbial flora of patients with and without UUI (Pearce et al. 2014, 2015) and decreased diversity in the urinary microbiome is associated with more severe UUI symptoms (Karstens et al. 2016). Furthermore, medication response was found to be related to the urinary microbiota composition, where responders at baseline were more likely to have less diverse bacterial microbiomes than non-responders (Thomas-White et al. 2015). Overall, it is becoming clear that characteristics of the urinary microbiota play a role in UUI.

In addition to evidence associating the urinary microbiome with urogenital health and disease, it is long known that the nearby vaginal microbiome also contributes to urogenital health and disease. The vaginal microbiome, or vaginal flora, is known to play a protective role in preventing diseases such as bacterial vaginosis, sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and urinary tract infections (UTIs) (Ma, Forney, and Ravel 2012). More specifically, four *Lactobacillus* species (*L. iners, L. crispatus, L. gasseri*, and *L. jensenii*) have been shown to dominate the vaginal flora in healthy, reproductive-age women (Ravel et al. 2011). The role of *Lactobacillus* species in the vaginal microbiota is also becoming clearer, whereby they tightly regulate the vaginal environment by producing lactic acid after consuming host-provided glycogen (Nunn and Forney 2016).

Despite research supporting the role of the microbiome in urogenital conditions, little is known about the relationship between the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome. Individually, the microbiota of the vagina and the urinary tract are known to play a complex role in determining urogenital health (MacIntyre, Sykes, and Bennett 2017). The overall composition of the vaginal and urinary microbiomes are more similar to each other in bacterial composition compared to the microbiomes of other human body-sites (i.e., the gut microbiome) (Thomas-White et al. 2018; Komesu et al. 2020). Furthermore, the functional diversity of the urinary and vaginal bacterial genomes are also more similar (Thomas-White et al. 2018). However, the characteristics of how these two microbiomes interact as an ecological environment and how their interaction may influence the development of disease are not well understood.

The vaginal microbiota and the urinary microbiota are studied using similar approaches, but these methods have limitations in their inferential power and downstream

clinical application. Traditional approaches to characterizing the microbiome include quantifying the number or distribution of types of bacteria per sample (alpha diversity) and quantifying differences between samples (beta diversity) (Finotello, Mastrorilli, and Di Camillo 2016). Also included is differential abundance, which identifies bacteria with the greatest relative change between groups of interest (Paulson et al. 2013). However, these approaches are a starting point to developing hypotheses about how emergent changes in the normal microbial flora influence the development of diseases, such as UUI (Shade 2017).

Investigations to date have focused on studying the presence and type of microbial flora present. However, newer approaches now allow for systems-based approaches to investigate how urogenital microbial networks influence the development and response to treatment of UUI. Microbes are not merely a collection of independent organisms. Rather, they engage in ecological interactions that affect the stability and dynamics of the complex microbial community. We can start modeling the complexity of these interactions as a system using network-based approaches. These approaches aim to create a more comprehensive picture of microbial variation associated with UUI. This framework also allows us to consider the impact of bacteria and bacterial subgroups in women with UUI using the context of the microbial community. Investigating the role of the urinary and vaginal bacteria in UUI using innovative computational techniques may help identify modifiable risk factors that can be a target for future interventions. With this background, this thesis aims to address these questions:

- 1. How can we more effectively use microbial abundance data to understand the relationship between the vaginal and urinary microbial communities associated with urgency urinary incontinence?
- 2. How are traditional microbial analyses represented within the microbial network as it relates to urgency urinary incontinence?
- 3. How do interactions within the urinary and vaginal microbiome influence the development of urgency urinary incontinence?

In the next sections, we will review important developments in urgency urinary incontinence research, both of the urinary and vaginal microbiomes, and microbial network analyses. In Chapter 2, we identify differences in the microbiome of women with and without urgency urinary incontinence using traditional microbiome analytical techniques. In Chapter 3, we introduce our network model and its application to the urinary microbiome and the vaginal microbiome to identify co-occurring groups of bacteria associated with urgency urinary incontinence. Last, we present a discussion and conclusion in Chapter 4, followed by suggested future work in Chapter 5.

1.1 Statement of aims

Specific Aim 1. Identify differences in the microbiome of women with and without urgency urinary incontinence using traditional microbiome measures.

We will investigate the differences in the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome of women with and without UUI. We hypothesize that the diversity and abundance of bacteria will be different between women with and without UUI.

Specific Aim 2. Characterize the site-specific microbial community network structures of the female urogenital tract and characterize its relationships with urgency urinary incontinence in women

We will investigate the interactions within the urinary and vaginal microbiome by creating a network-based framework to understand the relationship between the sitespecific microbiomes of the female urogenital tract and urgency urinary incontinence in women. This framework uses co-occurrence correlations to define bacterial relationships and will allow us to compare the currently accepted microbiome data analysis methods for the vaginal microbiome (Aim 2A) and urinary microbiome (Aim 2B). This framework will also enable us to assess microbiome communities with an ecological perspective, an understanding of which will generate experimentally testable hypotheses on the bacterial interactions that contribute to health.

1.2 Aim 1 background

Urgency urinary incontinence (UUI) is a highly prevalent condition among women, the risk of which increases with age, and ultimately lowers their quality of life. This stigmatized condition is currently treated through a tiered treatment plan with increasing invasiveness with each treatment trial. Despite the progress in better managing this condition, the etiology of the disease and effective patient stratification are still poorly understood.

1.2.1 Current understanding of urgency urinary incontinence in women

Urgency urinary incontinence is a chronic condition that predominantly affects women. The International Urogynecological Association (IUGA) and the International Continence Society (ICS) define this condition as, "[an] involuntary leakage accompanied by

or immediately preceded by urgency¹" (Haylen et al. 2009). The underlying condition of urinary incontinence affects both sexes. For men, urinary incontinence is often because of an enlarged prostate or prostate cancer. In contrast, urinary incontinence in women occurs because of issues surrounding the bladder or pelvic floor muscles (Aoki et al. 2017). These issues in women are often related to childbirth or menopause. These life events that are unique to women motivate the innovation of treatment options for this chronic condition.

The prevalence of urgency urinary incontinence in women is a global problem and reports estimate it to gradually increase over time. A number of studies across multiple countries estimated female urinary incontinence prevalence. Although there is variation in estimates, Milsom et al. (2013) summarizes that an at least weekly leakage occurs in approximately 10% of all adult women, while occasional leakage affects between 25% and 45% of adult women. One common risk factor that is consistently associated across studies is age. Across eighteen reports spanning from 1966 to 2011, the rate of new cases was less than 2 per 1,000 person-years before age 40 years, but tended to increase there after (Stewart et al. 2014). Moreover, urinary incontinence affects societies financially, costing the US an estimated \$19.5 billion in 2000 (Hu et al. 2003). Estimates suggest the number of US women with urinary incontinence will increase from 18.3 million in 2010 to 28.4 million by 2050 (Wu et al. 2009). These statistics demonstrate that this condition is not uncommon among women.

¹ Haylen et al. (2009) defines "urgency" as the "complaint of a sudden, compelling desire to pass urine which is difficult to defer"

Despite this observed prevalence of urinary incontinence, stigma around it has crippling effects on one's quality of life and blocks individuals from receiving the clinical help they may need. Stigma around medical conditions can lead to worse outcomes because of the fear of discrimination from peers and discourage care-seeking (Link and Phelan 2006). One study to better understand the stigma around urinary incontinence was conducted using the Boston Area Community Health (BACH) Survey. The BACH survey is a population-based, random sample epidemiological survey of urologic symptoms with a random subsample of 151 men and women aimed to differentiate the stigma associated with both frequency and urgency from just urinary incontinence. Their results show that there is not only stigma around urinary incontinence, but also urinary frequency and urgency (Elstad et al. 2010). The women felt stigmatized for having an "unclean body or compromised social identity." Furthermore, a study of 201 women at St. George's and St. James's Hospitals, London reported the women had reluctance to discuss their possible urinary incontinence problems with their primary care provider because of embarrassment, which further delayed the appropriate treatment for their symptoms (Norton et al. 1988). These unique issues to women, the high prevalence of urinary incontinence in women, and stigma around urinary incontinence all motivate the reason for the ongoing research to better understand the disease etiologies and develop novel treatment options for UUI.

There are three known etiologies for urinary incontinence: detrusor overactivity, poor detrusor compliance, and urothelium hypersensitivity (Aoki et al. 2017). Detrusor overactivity is defined as, "a urodynamic observation characterized by involuntary detrusor contractions during the filling phase which may be spontaneous or provoked" (Abrams et

al. 2002). In contrast, a bladder with low detrusor compliance means it cannot stretch and contract, which results in leakage from the increased pressure within the bladder and can also cause discomfort. Last, a bladder with urothelium hypersensitivity will react to stimuli. The urothelial lining is not a passive barrier, but is able to detect thermal, mechanical, and chemical changes. This last etiology involving the urothelium has shifted the focus of ongoing research to the effects of urothelial inflammation and infection on UUI. The next section explores current treatment plans that target these known etiologies.

1.2.2 Current medical treatment guidelines

The differential diagnosis of UUI primarily depends on urinary incontinence associated with symptoms of urgency. Robust self-completion questionnaires are widely recognized as a valid way to measure a person's signs and symptoms to more accurately diagnosis UUI². There are two broad groups of questionnaires: general surveys and urgency urinary incontinence specific. The general surveys measure lower urinary symptoms (LUTS). Some examples include the Urinary Distress Inventory (UDI) (assesses lower urinary tract dysfunction) and Incontinence Impact Questionnaire (IIQ) (assess urinary incontinence's impact on health-related quality of life) (Shumaker et al. 1994). Overactive bladder³ symptom-specific surveys include the OAB-q (assesses all overactive bladder symptoms and their impact on health-related quality of life) (Coyne et al. 2002) and International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire (ICIQ) (assess urinary incontinence and its impact on the quality of life) (Avery et al. 2004). Despite equipping

² Other important measurement tools not mentioned include urodynamics and urine culture, both of which can exclude differential diagnoses.

³ A similar condition that gets diagnosed with urgency urinary incontinence is overactive bladder; urgency urinary incontinence is (Aoki et al. 2017).

researchers and health professionals with a variety of validated assessment tools for urinary incontinence symptoms, no ideal questionnaire exists (Shy and Fletcher 2013). Nonetheless, the variety of questionnaires give clinicians the ability to assess and customize a patient's assessment to better treat and manage their symptoms.

An additional tool to measure patient symptoms is a bladder diary. Patients can track their symptoms in bladder diaries, also known as voiding diaries, for three or seven days (Dmochowski et al. 2005). For each day, the patient records information for hourly intervals on details such as fluid intake, number of voids, and the level of urgency they felt. The observations of the diary can then facilitate discussions between the health professional and the patient to personalize their health plan. These diaries are invaluable in part because of its temporal nature and intentional record keeping making it a more objective measure of their condition's severity (Stav, Dwyer, and Rosamilia 2009). Importantly, this record keeping also allows patients to track symptom improvement, thus shedding light on therapeutic effectiveness or failure. In sum, bladder diaries offer an integral assessment and tracking tool in evaluating a patient's symptoms. After completing a thorough symptom assessment, healthcare professionals can proceed with multiple lines of treatment, each with varying levels of invasiveness and possibility of irreversible side effects.

There are three general lines of treatment (Corcos et al. 2017). First-line treatments are non-invasive and reversible, which includes behavioral therapies, lifestyle changes, and patient education. There are two main treatments for behavioral therapy: bladder training (e.g., timed voiding) and pelvic floor muscle therapy (e.g., urgency suppression). Lifestyle changes that patients may make include managing fluid and caffeine intake and weight loss.

Patient education empowers them to engage with their treatment, which may affect their motivation and ultimately influence their health outcome. The second line of treatment involves pharmacological management of antimuscarinics⁴ (to target muscarinic acetylcholine receptors) and beta-3 and renoceptor agonists (to target β_3 adrenergic receptors). These pharmacological agents act to increase bladder muscle function, with the goal of improving quality of life and decreasing a patient's symptoms. The last and thirdline treatments include onabutulinumtoxinA and neuromodulation. Intra-detrusor injections of onabutulinumtoxinA, more commonly known as Botox, paralyze the detrusor smooth muscle enough to reduce the number of urgency episodes (Chapple et al. 2013: Apostolidis, Dasgupta, and Fowler 2006). Neuromodulation treatments are artificial nerve stimulations that include peripheral tibial nerve stimulation (PTNS) and sacral neuromodulation (SNM). More specifically, the International Neuromodulation Society defines these neuromodulation methods as, "the alternation of nerve activity through the delivery of electrical stimulation of chemical agents to targeted sites of the body" ("International Neuromodulation Society," n.d.). These three lines of treatment give clinicians the flexibility to personalize treatments based on an individual patient's needs and symptom presentation.

1.2.3 Treatment limitations for physicians and patients

Despite the range of treatments, each option has considerable inconveniences and clinical limitations, which warrant further research into alternative therapeutics and

⁴ Antimuscarinics are a subset of a larger class of anticholinergic drugs, which also include the distinctly separate class of nicotinic receptor antagonists, and should be noted to avoid confusion (Montastruc et al. 2010)

treatment options. The first-line treatments (e.g., behavioral therapies) are the least invasive, but they require behavior changes that are difficult for long-term compliance among patients (Borello-France et al. 2010). Second-line treatments (e.g., antimuscarinics) have a separate problem. Compliance among patients is dependent on which drug-specific side effects they can tolerate (e.g., dry mouth and impaired cognitive function); this is further complicated with the fact that randomized trials have found that no single drug outperforms the rest (Gormley et al. 2015). Moreover, for older individuals, careful consideration should be taken when prescribing antimuscarinics because of the possible worsening of cognitive function in an already at-risk population for cognitive decline (Ouslander 1995). Last, although neuromodulation treatments are effective and regarded as safe, the side effects include unwanted bleeding, infection/inflammation, and pain at the device insertion site (Corcos et al. 2017). The tiered treatment course, which increases with invasiveness, could be made more efficient if the most effective treatment could be more directly prescribed. In theory, this ideal scenario would increase overall patient satisfaction from not experiencing a number of unnecessary side effects and increase physician efficiency in promptly designing the best treatment.

1.2.4 The Human Microbiome Project to facilitate progress in host-microbe understanding

The development of DNA-based analyses from high-throughput sequencing has expanded the ability to characterize not just the disease-causing bacteria. The completion of the Human Genome Project promoted enthusiasm for a deeper and genome-based understanding of human health and disease. Immediately after the completion of the human genome, researchers reminded the research community that microbes also play a vital role in human health and disease (Relman and Falkow 2001; Davies 2001). Individual

smaller initiatives have since been conducted to better understand these bacteria on humans. However, at the time, there had not been a concerted effort to systematically characterize and understand the human microbiome. Since then, many initiatives worldwide have been conducted.

The Human Microbiome Project (HMP) was one of the first coordinated efforts to characterize the healthy human microbiome occupying the body. Previously, there was no comprehensive effort in careful sampling across the multiple human body sites at a population level. The National Institutes of Health initiated this project in 2007 (Phillips 2008; Proctor 2012) with the following goals: demonstrate feasibility of characterizing the human microbiome, understand the microbiome's influence on disease, and develop the infrastructure for future microbiome research (The NIH HMP Working Group et al. 2009). The project also created important computational and technological resources to sustain future microbiome research (Proctor 2012). For example, bioinformatics software for 16S rRNA gene sequencing and whole metagenome sequencing assembly was developed⁵ along with centralized databases to host reference genomes for the human microbiome.⁶ The project recruited 300 healthy volunteers to participate, where 279 were sampled twice and 100 were sampled for a third time. Each participant was then sampled up to 18 sites around the body. The major results of the project show the range of microbial variation in a Western population and how distinct body sites differed more within an individual than

⁵ Tools and technology can be found at https://www.hmpdacc.org/hmp/resources/.

⁶ Data can be found at https://portal.hmpdacc.org/.

between the same body sites among different individuals. This project has left a lasting impact on the research community, catalyzing a new field for decades to come.

Since the HMP has finished, studies suggest that body site-specific diseases are independent of the concentration of their resident bacteria. A naive assumption about infections is that more bacteria may lead to more disease. But from the HMP, we have learned, for example, that the vagina generally contains less resident bacteria compared to both the oral cavity and gut bacteria (Human Microbiome Project Consortium 2012). However, some notable findings show that each body habitat can have an associated disease with changes in its microbiome. Some examples include the interaction between obesity and the gut microbiota (Delzenne and Cani 2011), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and the respiratory microbiome (Dickson, Erb-Downward, and Huffnagle 2013), and urogenital infections and the vaginal microbiome (White et al. 2011). Each of these disease-associations altogether not only support the association between bacteria and disease, but also the independence of disease on the concentration of bacteria at the body area. This further supports the need to understand how each bacterium's role plays in human health and disease and to go beyond associations to also understand causal mechanisms.

1.2.5 Urinary microbiome, vaginal microbiome, and urgency urinary incontinence

Although the bladder was originally thought to be sterile and excluded from the HMP, there has been progress in changing the paradigm that the bladder is sterile. With emerging evidence of bacteria residing in the bladder in the absence of an acute infection, the microbiome of the healthy bladder may play an important role in preventing the

pathophysiology of lower urinary tract symptoms. Similarly, our understanding of lower urinary tract symptoms is not isolated from bacteria in the bladder. Robust evidence shows a link between the vaginal flora and urinary tract infections, which suggests a possible interaction between the vaginal flora and bacteria of the bladder. This highlights the need to explore the structure of a combined urogenital microbiome.

1.2.6 From neglect to recognition of the urinary microbiome

The bladder was notably not included in the HMP because of the long-held belief that the bladder is sterile (Thomas-White et al. 2016). The exclusion from the HMP slowed research on the bladder compared to other body sites. As mentioned above in section 1.2.4, these numerous examples show that the human microbiome changes with normal health and disease. For example, the vaginal microbiota of reproductive women varies with a number of host factors such as age and ethnicity (Ravel et al. 2011). Careful sampling of bacteria is also necessary because contamination from the environment can confound research findings. As a result of the technological developments under the HMP, sample collection methods were carefully designed and optimized to maximize their use for downstream analyses (Aagaard et al. 2013). Similarly, computational groups also developed computational methods to handle these novel sources of data (Gevers et al. 2012). These advancements developed collaboration networks, validated and agreed upon protocols, and robust computational techniques. Although these methods were all used to study bacterial communities, this did not guarantee direct applicability to other types of samples. The exclusion of the bladder from the HMP left researchers uncertain as to whether these established technologies and computational methods apply to study the microbial potential in the urine without additional considerations.

Decades-old hints of latent bacteria in the bladder and the difficulty in studying them were recently rediscovered, which ultimately helped reignite interest in the scientific and medical implications of bacteria in the healthy bladder. In 1979, Rosalind Maskell⁷ and colleagues investigated the strange phenomenon called "urethral syndrome," where patients would present with UTI symptoms but without significant bacteriuria⁸. Maskell, Allen, and Pead showed that incubating urine cultures for more than 24 hours under 7% CO_2 (instead of atmospheric air) revealed a number of slow-growing organisms (Maskell, Allen, and Pead 1979). The presence of these microbes contradict the at-the-time paradigm of a sterile bladder. Such a finding should not be surprising given the adaptability of microorganisms to exist virtually anywhere there is liquid water present (Rothschild and Mancinelli 2001). Maskell and her colleagues' findings suggested at least one technological barrier (i.e., optimized growth media conditions) to better understand these more "fastidious" bacteria in the bladder.

Leaning on the pioneering work of Maskell and colleagues, a separate group recently identified two major barriers in comprehensively identifying bacteria in the bladder: first, avoiding contamination from the vagina, and second, ensuring that the extracted bacterial DNA originated from live bacteria (Thomas-White et al. 2016). The vagina contains its own microbiome and the urethra that carries the urine is located in front of the vaginal opening. Typical urine specimens to be tested are collected using a technique called clean-catch,

⁷ Maskell spent much of her research career on understanding urinary tract infections, postulating the early existence of bacteria in the bladder that require special culturing techniques https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i6147.

⁸ Bacteriuria is defined as the presence of bacteria in urine.

midstream voided urine.⁹ Although measures are taken to avoid contamination, close proximity of the urethra to the vagina increases the risk of contamination of the urine with resident vaginal bacteria. For this reason, Wolfe et al. (2012) investigated the suitable urine collection method through a study of patients undergoing gynecologic surgery. They found clean-catch urine to be inferior to another urine collection method of transurethral catheterization. As the gold standard for detecting what is in the bladder, the suprapubic aspirate collection technique¹⁰ that directly samples from the bladder was used as a comparison. Their results showed that the microbial composition of bladder samples between the suprapubic aspirate and transurethral catheter are more similar to each other than clean-catch urine (Wolfe et al. 2012). These results show that transurethral catheterization is a suitable method to avoid vulvovaginal contamination when sampling urine from the bladder.

After the technological advance to adequately sample urine from the bladder without contamination, two new questions arise: can we be sure the bacteria from the bladder are alive and is there a way to engineer the conditions to culture these bacteria. Pioneering work by Hilt et al. (2014) developed the next necessary technological advance to answer both of these questions. Their group developed what is called an expanded quantitative urine culture (EQUC). Traditionally, the clinical microbiology protocol for culturing urine streaks 0.001 mL of urine onto a 5% blood agar plate and is then incubated

⁹ The protocol for clean-catch, midstream voided urine is as follows. The area between the labia is first cleaned with sterile wipes before the subject is then asked to briefly urinate (in order to flush out any resident microorganisms and secretions). The subject is then asked to continue the flow of urine so a urine cup can collect a urine specimen. More on the topic can be found at https://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/007487.htm.

¹⁰ https://medlineplus.gov/ency/patientinstructions/000145.htm.

aerobically at 35°C for 24 hours. In contrast, the EQUC protocol notably uses 100 times as much urine (0.1 mL). The growth medium is also a modified blood agar plate with chocolate, colistin, and nalidixic acid agars, which is then incubated in 5% *CO*₂ at 35°C for 48 hours. Out of the 65 urine specimens, there were 52 specimens (52/65 [80%]) that were reported as no growth by the traditional clinical microbiology protocol. However, the new protocol was able to grow bacterial species in 48 of the previously no-growth specimens (48/52 [92%]). Furthermore, the bacteria grown in EQUC culture were compared and matched with bacterial DNA sequences by 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing. This confirmed that the bacteria identified through 16S rRNA sequencing are alive and not just passing through into the bladder. The development of EQUC and the validated use of urethral catheters both laid the foundation for standardized study protocols in further studying the urinary microbiome.

1.2.7 Urinary microbiome and urgency urinary incontinence

This paradigm shift to the bladder not being sterile has created additional research opportunities to explore its connection with chronic urinary conditions. Currently, chronic urinary conditions such as overactive bladder syndrome (OAB) and UUI are poorly understood. For UUI, current treatments target abnormal neuromuscular signaling and/or functioning. However, medications for these treatments are ineffective in nearly half of subjects with UUI (Nitti et al. 2010; Hartmann et al. 2009). Now that we can characterize the bacteria in the bladder, this offers a new source of variation to better understand the heterogeneity in individuals with chronic urinary conditions.

Early studies to explore the relationship between the urinary microbiome and chronic urinary conditions started with UUI. As a part of a larger study focusing only on

women who planned to undergo treatment for UUI, Brubaker et al. (2014) used qPCR to categorize women as positive and negative qPCR for bacterial DNA, a general measure for the presence and absence of the urinary microbiota. These women were also evaluated for post-operative UTI¹¹. The study found that subjects with a positive qPCR reading had more UUI episodes but less of a risk for a UTI compared to the women with negative qPCR readings (Brubaker et al. 2014). The implication of these results reveal the variation in the urinary microbiota of women affected by UUI and its potential to influence clinical outcomes after treatment. To further understand the differences in the urinary microbiota of women with UUI. Pearce et al. (2014) aimed to characterize the bacteria in urine between 58 women with UUI and 60 women without UUI. Two notable results from this study reveal differences in observed bacteria genera¹² between cohorts and bacterial composition based on a subsample of cohort samples. Although there was no statistical difference between the UUI and non-UUI control groups, the researchers observed six groups after clustering of the urinary microbiome samples. These groupings, called $urotypes^{13}$, were based on the most dominant bacterial taxa in that sample (e.g., Lactobacillus) and the six dominant taxa were: Lactobacillus, Gardnerella, *Enterobacteriaceae, Staphylococcus, Sneathia, and diverse. Their results suggest that this* heterogeneity in the urinary microbiome across women is linked with demographic

¹¹ UTI was defined "either as $> 10^5$ CFU/mL or as any treatment with antibiotics for a UTI (suspected or documented) at any point between randomization and 6 months".

¹² Nine genera (*Actinobaculum, Actinomyces, Aerococcus, Arthrobacter, Corynebacterium, Gardnerella, Oligella, Staphylococcus*, and *Streptococcus*) were cultured more frequently in the UUI cohort, which is calculated by person presence rather than by abundance counts.

¹³ Classification of human microbiome samples into groups was first done with the gut microbiome where they've termed their groups as "enterotypes".

information and symptom severity because their statistical analyses show age, body mass index (BMI), and baseline UUI episodes per day were different across urotypes. To further investigate a possible interaction between the urinary microbiota and clinical treatment response, Thomas-White et al. (2015) recruited women taking oral medications for UUI. These women were categorized into non-responders, 5 mg solifenacin responders, and 10 mg solifenacin responders¹⁴. The authors then observed the frequency of urinary bacteria across these categories. Although their study did not look at microbial diversity (e.g., Shannon diversity), their results showed variation in the detected bacteria with respect to drug response, suggesting a possible drug response stratification based on urinary bacteria. Further efforts to associate the urinary bacteria with clinical symptoms show that an increase in UUI symptom severity is associated with decreased microbial diversity in women with UUI (Karstens et al. 2016). Moreover, decreased microbial diversity and richness of the urinary microbiota in women with OAB is associated with increased levels of self-rated depression scores (Wu et al. 2017). Altogether, these results suggest an underlying microbial community structure to the urinary microbiota that changes with disease, knowledge of which may be useful in understanding UUI and OAB to assign more effective treatment options.

1.2.8 Summary

In summary, urgency urinary incontinence is a highly prevalent condition that debilitates the quality of life of those suffering with this condition. This complex condition

¹⁴ The primary outcome was treatment response after 12 weeks. After 4 weeks, "response" was based on whether the women reported improved symptom control as measured on the Patient Global Symptom Control (PGSC) questionnaire. Non-responders were increased to 10 mg solifenacin. Participants who did not respond at 10 mg at 12 weeks were categorized as non-responders.

has a range of treatment options with varying levels of invasiveness, but not without their own limitations and side effects. The human microbiome is shown to vary with health and disease, including the recent recognition of the commensal urinary microbiome. Changes in the urinary microbiome have been associated with urgency urinary incontinence. In contrast, evidence is currently lacking as to whether changes in the vaginal microbiome are associated with urgency urinary incontinence symptoms. Furthermore, the relationship on how the microbial communities of the bladder and the vagina both change with UUI is still a growing area of research.

1.3 Aim 2 background

In reality, microbial communities are complex collections of different microbes that interact dynamically (Coyte, Schluter, and Foster 2015; Gilbert and Lynch 2019). These collective interactions have the potential to elicit emergent effects that contribute to urinary tract symptoms such as UUI. The emerging area of microbial networks, which is the field of network science applied to the microbiome, has the potential to gain novel insights into the connection between the underlying structure of microbial community interactions and diseases such as UUI (Layeghifard, Hwang, and Guttman 2017; Röttjers and Faust 2018).

Previous computational methods fail to capture the underlying microbial complexity to prescribe effective treatments. To understand the relationship between the microbiome and disease, researchers have relied on quantifying the number and distribution of bacteria (alpha diversity), quantifying bacteria-wise differences (beta diversity), or identifying differential abundant bacteria between states of health and disease. Although these methods have advanced our knowledge of the human microbiome in human health and

disease, broad applications of restoring the diversity of bacteria have mixed results. For example, studies aiming to restore the gut microbiome to a healthy state using a fecal microbiome transplant show not all recipients of the treatment experienced restored gut health (Li et al. 2016; Paramsothy et al. 2017). These results rely on the underlying hypothesis that resetting the microbiome back to a healthy state can be done solely by replacing the microbiome with other microbiomes of a perceived healthy status, effectively replenishing the missing microbes that kept the microbiome healthy. These mixed results suggest that this hypothesis fails to account for the complexity in microbial systems to make effective changes.

In recent years, there has been considerable interest in applying microbial networks to human disease, which have shown potential in improving our understanding of the relationship between the microbiome and disease. In contrast to diversity-centric methods, ecological interactions more directly motivate the theory behind microbial networks. These precise ecological interactions are unknown and invisible. However, microbial networks aim to infer this invisible interaction structure, from which higher-level inferences about these microbial systems can be made. Despite the interest in applying microbial networks in other microbiomes, microbial networks remain relatively unexplored in biomedical areas of research involving the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome. Before more advanced modeling of these microbial communities can be reasonably explored and understood¹⁵, the next step to understanding these microbial relationships is to understand the network structures and effects of the microbiomes.

1.3.1 Current limitations in established methods

Microbial diversity and differential abundance are mainstay methods in microbiome science, but the knowledge gained from these methods is starting to plateau. Johnson and Burnet (2016) remind us that diversity is but one way to understand an ecosystem and that there are other factors to consider, such as stability and structure of an ecosystem(Johnson and Burnet 2016). Diversity measures have their own assumptions of the data and thus direct comparisons with each other is not straightforward. Despite the utility in the previously mentioned methods, effective inference from diversity measures requires extensive sampling and knowledge on how each diversity metric gives weight to organisms that differ in abundance (Bent 2008; Willis 2019). Living organisms rarely live in isolation, but rather, they exist in the same environment and influence each other (see section 1.3.2). Microbial diversity abstracts the complex microbial community into a single property. Fundamentally, accounting for interactions or community dynamics is not a direct assumption in these measures of the microbiome.

1.3.2 Microbial ecology to study microbial communities

Microbial ecology is the study of microorganisms in nature and their role among humans. Traditionally, we study microorganisms as individual species or strains after

¹⁵ More advanced modeling would include causal inferences on adding or removing select individual or groups of bacteria and exploring those effects on the rest of the microbiome. Some methods include, but are not limited to, Bayesian networks, system of differential equations, and structural equation modeling. An example of such as model can be found in Angulo, Moog, and Liu (2019) (https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08890-y).

isolating them from their native ecosystems. Microbial communities, however, are multispecies collections that interact and live among each other. Precise definitions of communities vary from tight ecological interactions among organisms to species that cooccur within the same physical and chemical environments (Konopka 2009). Nonetheless, the concept around "communities" provides a mental framework to study multiple species of microorganisms rather than single species.

Using ecological principles in microbiology, we can start asking and answering questions that were previously not possible. Although it has been long known that microorganisms play an important role in the living world (Gilbert and Neufeld 2014), here we will focus on their interactions among each other and with their hosts.

From a host-microbe perspective, the questions we can ask revolve around how these interactions occur and what benefits result in the fitness and health of the host (Antwis et al. 2017). The co-existence between a host and its microbes motivate questions about the underlying mechanisms that shape these interactions. For example, we can ask, "What are the primary mechanisms within a host that mediate microbe-microbe and hostmicrobe interactions?" More pertinent to our work here is to ask how these interactions influence our health. Ultimately, the long-term goal is to use our understanding of the hostmicrobe interactions to impact disease prevention and treatment (Zmora et al. 2016).

From a microbial community perspective, the questions we can ask revolve around microbial interactions and their collective functional potential. The interest in studying microbial interactions is important to understand ecosystem dynamics, such as ecosystem stability and functional potential (Konopka 2009). Understanding these dynamics open up the potential for targeted manipulation of these microbial systems by the precise

introduction of smaller microbial communities or targeted removed of key microbes. All of which can further the vision of personalized and precision medicine.

It is now the opportune moment to capitalize on the philosophy of holism and the deeper principles of ecology to complement the scientific knowledge built from reductionist methods in microbiology. Ecology and systems thinking are the driving principles in opening new opportunities for using the human microbiome to restore and maintain human health (Dethlefsen, McFall-Ngai, and Relman 2007).

A common theme in microbial ecology is to use a systems approach to understanding microbial communities. These themes include: studying microbial origins and evolution, the taxonomic relatedness among bacteria, the roles bacteria play in their ecosystems, the interactions between other organisms, interactions with the environment, and the capacity to degrade chemical substances (Bertrand et al. 2014).

On the theme of interactions, ecology provides us a framework for classifying different interactions between organisms. Lidicker proposed such a system that defined three types of interaction effects on an organism: positive, negative, or neutral (Lidicker 1979). These three types describe the overall effect that one organism experiences from an interaction. Example interpretations of these interactions include mutualism (both organisms have positive interactions) and competition (both organisms have negative interactions).

In particular, the theme of interactions between other microorganisms is particularly suitable for network analysis. With a low number of microorganisms, we can enumerate all possible pairwise combinations. However, as the number of microorganisms

increases, the number of pairwise associations becomes exponentially more difficult to organize and computationally analyze.

1.3.3 Microbial co-occurrence networks

Solving the research limitations of the current analytical methods will require novel methods to better understand all aspects of microbial communities. As noted in section 1.3.1, the current methods of diversity and differential abundance now provide limited additional insight into the complexities of microbial communities. The complexity originates from fact that bacteria will interact in direct and indirect mechanisms. One-step up from focusing on individual bacteria is to observe pairwise associations. Enumerating all pairwise comparisons of the bacteria in a community, however, increases exponentially, which will prove difficult to scale and interpret.

Using principles of ecology and systems science, networks provide a promising approach to overcome the scale and difficulty in interpretations. Fundamentally, networks are a collection of objects and their connections with each other. These networks have a long history of research, which gives us analytical tools for inference on networks. Consequently, networks are also used in biology, ranging from constructing food webs to gene regulatory networks. The only difference between these biological networks is how you define the objects and the kind of connections between them.

1.3.4 Growing evidence for connected urogenital microbiome

Recent conjecture suggests an integrated urogenital microbiome consisting of the urinary and vaginal microbiomes. Traditionally, the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome are studied independently of each other. Komesu and colleagues proposed methodology to study the vaginal and urinary microbiomes in women with mixed urinary incontinence (Komesu et al. 2016). Although the larger overarching study focuses on the urinary microbiota, the uncertain origins of the urinary microbes motivate this secondary exploration between the urinary and vaginal microbiomes. A review by MacIntyre, Sykes, and Bennett postulates the connection between the two microbiomes based on their close physical proximity and how each microbiota environment is highly regulated on their own (MacIntyre, Sykes, and Bennett 2017). Recently, Thomas-White et al. (2018) aimed to culture bacterial strains from urine because of the lack of reference strains for the urinary microbiota. Without pre-existing reference genomes to compare with, they compared their data to reference genomes of well-studied body sites. These other body sites were the gut bacteria and, notably, the vaginal bacteria. Their results show the urinary bacteria to have similar functional characteristics (based on conserved protein domains) and the existence of the same strains of bacteria in both the urine and vaginal microbiota in the same women. Similarly, Veit-Rubin et al. (2018) presented results at the International Continence Society conference on the relationship between the urinary, urothelial, and vaginal microbiome in OAB.¹⁶ They categorized women into cohorts of high and low bacterial abundance. From this grouping, they found patients with low abundance vaginal microbiome had increased *Parvimonas spp* in their urinary microbiome. Conversely, patients with a low abundance in their urinary microbiome had increased *Escherichia coli* in their vaginal microbiome. Moreover, they found *Prevotella spp* on the urothelium to have a protective role against urinary incontinence. Although presented as a conference abstract, these results suggest a relationship among the urogenital microbiome that may have clinical diagnostic and

¹⁶ Note, this is only a conference abstract and was not peer-reviewed.

therapeutic potential. Altogether, the evidence suggesting a combined urogenital microbiome is growing, but there is much to be learned of its community dynamics and structure.

The vaginal microbiome has long been known to be associated with health and disease. Typically, the vaginal microbiome is studied by taking a swab of the vaginal epithelium (Ravel et al. 2011; Hyman et al. 2005) located in the lower genital tract. Before high-throughput sequencing methods, characterizing the vaginal flora exclusively used culture-based methods (Donders 2010). From these low-throughput methods, we have come to understand that a majority of the bacteria on the vagina exist in a mutualistic relationship, and provide a first-line of defense from infection by pathogenic bacteria. Members of the genus Lactobacillus encompass the majority of the bacteria in the vagina and are well known for maintaining vaginal health. Its dominance in the vaginal microbiome drove research to identify the protective effects of *Lactobacillus* through its production of lactic acid and resulting low pH. Major findings of the vaginal microbiome include our understanding of the dominant *Lactobacillus* groups, the crucial role of estrogen and glycogen in supporting lactobacilli, and rethinking the definition of a healthy and normal vaginal microbiome (Nunn and Forney 2016). Modern molecular techniques have revealed four dominant species of lactobacilli to dominant the vaginal microbiome: L. crispatus, L. iners, L. gasseri, and L. jensenii. In reality, little is known about how these lactobacilli and associated microbial communities differ between women and how these bacteria functionally interact with their host humans.

2 Urinary and vaginal microbial differences and urgency urinary incontinence

2.1 Abstract

It has increasingly been appreciated that there are differences in the microbial flora of women with and without urgency urinary incontinence (UUI). Compositional changes in the urinary microbiome are known to be associated with UUI. However, the relationship between the vaginal microbiome and UUI and how that variation relates to the urinary microbiome is still unknown. Additionally, there are a lack of studies exploring the relationship between the vaginal microbiome and UUI. Here we collected catheterized urine and vaginal swabs from women with UUI (n=20) and without UUI (n=30) and show that trends in alpha diversity are similar between the urinary and vaginal microbiome. After adjusting for age, body mass index, menopause status, and estrogen use, there were no differences in the urinary and vaginal microbiomes between women with UUI and without UUI. These results are partially in contrast with previous studies, which show microbial diversity changes in the urinary microbiome of women with UUI. There is still evidence lacking to show a relationship between the changes in vaginal microbiome composition and having UUI. We are surprised by the results here that contrast with the general consensus that the urinary microbiome differs in women with UUI relative to women without UUI. There is still more work to be done to understand the relationship between UUI and the vaginal microbiome and the relationship between the urinary microbiome and the vaginal microbiome. Ultimately, understanding how UUI symptoms, the urinary microbiome, and vaginal microbiome coexist will improve our understanding to best treat women with UUI and other lower urinary tract symptoms.
2.2 Introduction

Historically, the bladder was thought to be sterile in the absence of an acute infection. However, with more widespread use of high-throughput sequencing and enhanced culturing techniques, bacteria are being recognized as a commensal part of the normal bladder (Wolfe et al. 2012). Additionally, the development of an alternative culturing method, called expanded quantitative urine culture (EQUC), has further demonstrated the presence of living bacteria in the female bladder (Hilt et al. 2014).

It has increasingly been appreciated that there are differences in the microbial flora of women with and without UUI (Pearce et al. 2014, 2015). For example, decreased diversity in the urinary microbiome is associated with more severe UUI symptoms (Karstens et al. 2016). Furthermore, medication response was found to be related to the urinary microbiota composition, where responders at baseline were more likely to have less diverse bacterial microbiomes than non-responders (Thomas-White et al. 2015). Overall, it is becoming clear that characteristics of the urinary microbiota play a role in UUI.

In addition to evidence associating the urinary microbiome with urogenital health and disease, it is long known that the nearby vaginal microbiome also contributes to urogenital health and disease. The vaginal microbiome is known to play a protective role in preventing diseases such as bacterial vaginosis, sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and urinary tract infections (UTIs) (Ma, Forney, and Ravel 2012). More specifically, four *Lactobacillus* species (*L. iners, L. crispatus, L. gasseri*, and *L. jensenii*) are shown to dominate in healthy, reproductive-age women (Ravel et al. 2011). The role of *Lactobacillus* species in the vaginal microbiota is also becoming clearer, whereby they tightly regulate the vaginal

environment by producing lactic acid after consuming host-provided glycogen (Nunn and Forney 2016).

Despite research supporting the role of the microbiome in urogenital conditions, little is known about the relationship between the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome. Individually, the microbiota of the vagina and the urinary tract are known to play a complex role in determining urogenital health (MacIntyre, Sykes, and Bennett 2017). Furthermore, it is shown the bacterial genomes and composition between the vaginal and urinary microbiomes are more similar compared to other human microbiomes (e.g., the gut microbiome) (Thomas-White et al. 2018; Komesu et al. 2020) However, it is not well understood how these two microbiota interact as an ecological environment and how their interaction may influence the development of disease.

In this study, we explore the relationship between UUI and the microbiome. We compare the urinary and vaginal microbiomes across women with and without UUI.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study population and design

This was a case-control study conducted at Oregon Health & Science University (OHSU) between 2016 and 2019. Study approval was obtained from OHSU's Institutional Review Board (IRB 00010729). Participants were women between the ages of 45 and 85 and were recruited both from the general population in the Portland Area as well as through urogynecology clinical providers from OHSU, Kaiser Permanente NW, and affiliated Portland area hospitals. Participants were prescreened over the phone and those who met the inclusion criteria completed their study visits at OHSU's Women's Health Research Unit (WHRU). This study is a part of a larger effort to understand overactive bladder syndrome

in women. For the purposes of this study, we focused on a subpopulation of women with urgency urinary incontinence and recruited 20 women with urgency urinary incontinence (cases) and 30 women with normal bladder function (controls). Case participants included females with daily urge-predominant incontinence confirmed on a 3-day voiding diary¹⁷ with urge-predominant leakage as determined by Perceived Urgency Scale score greater than or equal to 3 ("Severe urgency that I could not postpone voiding" and "I leaked before arriving at the toilet") for >50% of the total incontinence episodes on the diary. Control participants include female participants without a history of any urge urinary incontinence symptoms or frequent stress incontinence symptoms (more than once a week) based on a screening questionnaire and confirmation on a 3-day voiding diary. Participants were excluded if they had any of the following: a baseline need for intermittent selfcatheterization, known neurological diseases that could affect bladder function (stroke, multiple sclerosis, brain or spinal cord injury, myasthenia gravis), current pregnancy or lactation, history of pelvic radiation, current pelvic or bladder malignancy, symptomatic urinary tract infection detected on screening urinalysis and confirmed with culture (growth of $>10^5$ colonies per mL), symptomatic pelvic organ prolapse (sensation of vaginal bulge), or prior or current diagnosis of painful bladder syndrome.

All participants provided written consent and completed a demographic and health questionnaire, as well as a three-day bladder diary. Participants were asked to score their urinary urgency on the bladder diary using the Patient Perception of Intensity Urgency Scale (PPIUS). Participants also completed the International Consultation on Incontinence

¹⁷ "Voiding diary" is synonymous with "bladder diary".

Questionnaire (ICIQ) (Avery et al. 2004), Pelvic Floor Distress Inventory Urogenital Distress Inventory (UDI) (Barber, Walters, and Bump 2005), and Overactive Bladder Questionnaire (OABq) (Coyne et al. 2002). These are validated questionnaires to assess urinary incontinence symptoms, impact of pelvic floor disorders on daily function, quality of life, symptom bother, and health-related quality of life, respectively. Participants were asked about using the following vaginal products: douches, vaginal medications or suppositories, feminine sprays, genital wipes, contraceptive spermicides, and personal lubricants. Vaginal product use was collapsed to "any vaginal product use" because none of these products were used by a majority of the participants. During a study visit, a trained and licensed practitioner collected the participant's urine from the bladder using an aseptic technique with a urethral catheter. The total volume of the bladder was emptied and urine specimens were aliquoted into sterile 50 mL conical tubes and stored at –20°C until further processing. All urine specimens were handled in a sterile biosafety cabinet subsequent to collection.

The bladder behaviors were summarized as an average of averages, first summarized per woman and then per group (UUI or control). For example, urge leaks are the number of leaks when an urge to urinate was difficult to defer and resulted in a leak. The number of times this occurred is recorded on each of the three days. This one subject's bladder diary is then averaged across the three days. This average is then aggregated across subjects per cohort and averaged. This is done for the other bladder behaviors. Stress leaks are the number of leaks that result after sneezing, coughing, or other physical exertions. Night voids, also known as nocturia, is the complaint that an individual has to wake at night

one or more times for voiding. Voids is the number of times per day a person urinates and empties their bladder.

2.3.2 DNA extraction and PCR amplification

Microbial DNA from urine was extracted from microbial pellets formed from the centrifugation of 20-45mL of urine at 10,000 g for 30 min twice. DNA extraction was performed using the cultured cells protocol supplied with the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (QIAGEN, Germany). Microbial DNA from vaginal swabs was extracted by vortexing swab heads in PowerBead tubes before centrifugation at 10,000 g for 30 seconds at room temperature following the MO BIO PowerSoil DNA isolation kit protocol (QIAGEN, Germany).

Bacterial DNA was amplified by PCR using Golay barcoded primers which target the V4 region of 16S rRNA genes (Caporaso et al. 2012). Template DNA was amplified in triplicate using the GoTaq Hot Start Polymerase kit (Promega, USA). One microliter of template DNA and 1µL of a unique barcoded reverse primer were added to 48µL of master mix containing 1x colorless reaction buffer, 1.5mM MgCl₂, 0.2mM dNTPs, 0.2mM forward primer, and 1.25 U of polymerase enzyme. The reaction volumes were placed in a thermocycler and run through the following conditions: 94°C for 3 min (initial denaturation), followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 45 sec (denaturation); 55°C, 40 sec (annealing); 72°C, 1.5 min (extension); with a final extension at 72°C for 10 min.

Ten microliters of each product was used to verify the amplification by gel electrophoresis on a 2% agarose gel. Replicates yielding visible bands at 382 bp were pooled together and purified following the QIAquick PCR Purification kit (QIAGEN, Germany) provided protocol. Purified products were again quantified and quality checked at A260/A280 nm (Nanodrop, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Products were diluted to 10ng/μL and 5μL of each sample were pooled together for sequencing on the Illumina MiSeq sequencer (Illumina, USA).

2.3.3 Sequence processing, taxonomic assignment, and phylogenetic tree building

Illumina sequence reads for catheterized urine specimens and vaginal swab samples were processed using DADA2 (version 1.4.0) to yield amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) (Callahan et al. 2016). The paired-ended reads for sample reads were trimmed 10 bases from the 5' end for both forward and reverse reads. Subsequently, forward and reverse reads were truncated to 240 and 160 bases, respectively. Chimeric sequences were identified and removed by taking a consensus across samples using the removeBimeraDenovo function with default parameters in the dada2 R package (version 1.4.0). Sequences were aligned to the SILVA reference database (version 132) (Quast et al. 2012) and taxonomy was assigned to individual ASVs using the RDP classifier as implemented in the assignTaxonomy function with default parameters in the dada2 R package (version 1.4.0) (Wang et al. 2007). To increase our power to detect patterns, we agglomerated our ASVs to the genus taxonomic rank. For alpha and beta diversity analyses, the vaginal and urinary microbiome sequences variants were normalized by rarefaction without replacement to 15,000 reads per sample and 2,500 reads per sample, respectively. Performed separately for vaginal and urine samples, ASVs that contributed greater than 5% of the total ASVs of at least one sample were considered for further analysis. Identification and removal of contaminant sequences was performed on urinary microbiome samples using the decontam R package (version 1.4.0) (Davis et al. 2017). The frequency classification method of decontam to identify contaminants was used at a threshold of 0.3.

Phylogenetic trees were constructed by generating a neighbor-joining tree based on a multiple sequence alignment as implemented in the AlignSeqs function with default parameters in the DECIPHER R package (version 2.14.0) (Wright 2016). This multiple sequence alignment was then fit to a Generalized time-reversible (GTR) model with a Gamma rate variation (GTR+G+I) maximum likelihood using the neighbor-joining tree as implemented in the pml function and optimized with optim.pml in the phangorn R package (version 2.5.5) (Schliep 2010). For the urinary microbiome, the genera of experimentally cultured reference strains, as detailed in Thomas-White (2018), were retained if they were removed through decontam.

2.3.4 Statistical analyses

Differences in clinical and demographic characteristics between cases and controls were tested using Student's t-tests for normal and continuous characteristics, Mann-Whitney U for non-normal and continuous characteristics, and Fisher's exact test for categorical data. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used as the test for normality prior to testing. All analyses were performed in R (version 3.6.1) (R Core Team 2019). Data management, descriptive statistics, and visualizations of the microbiome data were performed using the phyloseq R package (version 1.28.0) (McMurdie and Holmes 2013), the tableone R package (version 0.12.0) (Yoshida and Bartel 2020), and the ggplot2 R package (version 3.3.2) (Wickham 2016), respectively.

Stacked bar plots based on sequence relative abundance were produced for the vaginal and urinary microbiome samples. Distance matrices for participants using clinical information and microbiome data were calculated using Gower's distance (accounts for accounting for both numerical and categorical information) (Gower 1971) and weighted

UniFrac distance (Lozupone et al. 2007), respectively. Complete linkage was used for hierarchical clustering as implemented in the hclust function using the Ward criterion (as implemented in hclust using the ward.D2 method) in R (version 3.6.1) (Murtagh and Legendre 2014). A dendrogram was used to visualize the hierarchical clustering relationships via the dendextend R package (version 1.13.4) (Galili 2015). The dendrogram was cut based on the Silhouette metric, a measure assessing the similarity of within-cluster points with other cluster points. The Silhouette metric was calculated for 2 to 6 potential number of clusters. For the UUI subtype clustering based on clinical observations, the numerical data used were: age, body mass index (kg/m^2) , UDI, OABq symptom scores, OABq health-related quality of life scores, ICIQ, average daily number of urge leaks, average daily number of night voids, average daily number of stress leaks, days since last vaginal intercourse, average number of voids, and average number of urges. The categorical data used were: menopausal status, estrogen use, history of incontinence surgery, history of hysterectomy, history of prolapse surgery, history of IBS, history of anxiety, pelvic or vaginal surgery, vaginal delivery, history of recurrent UTI, estrogen status, Patient Global Perception of Severity of Urinary Symptoms, and Patient Perception of Bladder Condition.

Alpha and beta diversity were calculated for the UUI case and control samples. Alpha diversity definitions used were the observed number of taxa, Pielou's evenness index (Pielou 1966), and inverse Simpson index. We tested the relationship of the alpha diversity measures with clinical characteristics as covariates using a generalized linear model. The observed number of taxa and inverse Simpson index were calculated using the diversity function in the vegan R package (version 2.5.6) (Oksanen et al. 2019) and Pielou's evenness index was calculated using the evenness function in the microbiome R package (version

1.6.0) (Lahti and Shetty, n.d.). Clinical covariates that were statistically different between UUI cases and controls were considered as covariates in downstream analyses. Beta diversity between subject samples was calculated using the weighted UniFrac distance measure (Lozupone et al. 2007) using the distance function in the phyloseq R package (version 1.28.0) (McMurdie and Holmes 2013), visualized using principal coordinates analysis (PCoA), and PERMANOVA was used to test ordination significance using the adonis function in the vegan R package (version 2.5.6) (Oksanen et al. 2019; Anderson 2001).

We identified candidate urinary and vaginal genera with differential abundance between UUI and health controls using a negative binomial generalized linear model (GLM) as implemented in DESeq2 (version 1.24.0) (Love, Huber, and Anders 2014). The significance of the fitted coefficients is tested using a Wald test. To increase our power, we filtered out genera having a non-zero number of reads in less than three samples. The false discovery rate (FDR) of multiple testing was adjusted using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure at a critical level of p-value < 0.1 (Benjamini and Hochberg 1995).

2.4 Results

Our study included 20 women with UUI and 30 healthy women between the ages of 41 and 81 (Table 1). Women with UUI were older (p-value = 0.04), had a higher body mass index (p-value = 0.005), and more often had a history of recurrent urinary tract infections (p-value = 0.007). Women with UUI and healthy women did not differ in menopause status, estrogen use, and race (p-value > 0.05). Table 1 also displays participant demographics that did not differ between our cohort groups, which include: had a vaginal delivery, history of diabetes, currently smoking, and history of pelvic floor surgery.

| | UUI (n=20) | Control (n=30) | P-value |
|---|---------------------|-------------------|---------|
| Age (years) ^a | 64.2±10.5 | 57.9±10.4 | 0.04 |
| Body mass index (kg/m ²) ^b | 29.25 [25.93, 32.8] | 25.4 [23.2, 28.3] | 0.005 |
| Menopause status | | | 0.317 |
| Premenopausal | 3 (15.0%) | 9 (30%) | |
| Postmenopausal | 17 (85.0%) | 21 (70%) | |
| Any Estrogen use | 9 (45.0%) | 7 (23.3%) | 0.220 |
| Race | | | 0.680 |
| White | 18 (90.0%) | 27 (90.0%) | |
| Non White | 2 (10.0%) | 3 (10.0%) | |
| Vaginal delivery (Yes) | 11 (55%) | 17 (46.7%) | 1.000 |
| Number of vaginal deliveries | 2.91±2.55 | 1.88±0.99 | 0.144 |
| History of diabetes | 4 (20%) | 6 (6.7%) | 0.143 |
| Smoking (current) | 1 (5%) | 0 (0%) | 0.400 |
| Has history of recurrent UTI | 5 (25.0%) | 0 (0.0%) | 0.007 |
| History of Anxiety | 4 (20.0%) | 4 (13.4%) | 0.266 |
| History of IBS | 4 (20.0%) | 2 (10.0%) | 0.279 |
| History of Pelvic Floor Surgery | 7 (35.0%) | 11 (36.7%) | 1.000 |

Table 1: Participant demographics. Student's t-test was performed on continuous, normally distributed data and displayed with mean and standard deviation. The Kruskal-Wallis test was performed on continuous, non-normally distributed data and displayed with median and IQR. The Fisher's exact test was performed on categorical data and counts reported as number of individuals with corresponding demographic or condition. Bold rows are statistically significant between cohorts. SD = standard deviation, IQR = interquartile range, a = normal distribution, b = non-normal distribution, c = categorical data.

As expected, the women with UUI had different scores on the symptom severity and

pelvic floor questionnaires (UDI, OAB-q, ICIQ, p < 0.001), all indicating a significant impact of urinary tract symptoms (Table 2). Additionally, women with UUI were more prevalent to have daily urge leaks (p-value < 0.001) (Table 3). We observed no significant difference in the prevalence of daily stress leaks (p-value > 0.05), prevalence of daily night voids, (pvalue > 0.05), and average number of voids (p-value > 0.05).

| | UUI (n=20) | Control (n=30) | P -value |
|--|----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|
| Urogenital distress inventory (UDI-6 Short Form) | 5.50 [4.75, 9.00] | 0.00 [0.00, 0.00] | <0.001 |
| OAB-q symptom bother | 45.00 [40.00, 70.00] | 6.67 [3.33, 15.00] | <0.001 |
| OAB-q health-related quality of life | 66.92 [45.77, 78.85] | 98.46 [95.77, 100.00] | <0.001 |
| International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire (ICIQ) | 10.50 [8.00, 14.25] | 3.00 [0.00, 3.00] | <0.001 |

Table 2: Participant bladder symptoms. This table summarizes bladder symptoms, assessed by validated pelvic floor questionnaires and notes statistical differences between the two groups, urgency urinary incontinence (UUI) cases and controls. Bold rows are statistically significant between cohorts. Statistics performed by Kruskal-Wallis, comparing each groups to controls.

| | UUI (n=20) | Control (n=30) | P-value |
|---------------------------------|------------|----------------|---------|
| Daily urge leaks ^a | 12 (60.0%) | 0.00 (0.00%) | <0.001 |
| Daily stress leaks ^a | 3 (15.0%) | 1 (3.4%) | 0.291 |
| Night voids ^a | 9 (45.0%) | 5 (17.2%) | 0.054 |
| Number of voids ^b | 8.89±3.46 | 7.56±2.31 | 0.129 |

Table 3: Summary of bladder habits over a 3-day bladder diary. Counts for daily urge leaks, daily stress leaks, and night voids represent the number of participants who had at least a daily occurrence of the bladder observation. Bold rows are statistically significant between cohorts. a = non-normal distribution, b = normal distribution

The urinary microbiome data were clustered in a dendrogram generated via

hierarchical clustering using the weighted UniFrac distance between urine samples (fig. 1). We observed two groups, which were defined when optimizing on the highest Silhouette metric (S = 0.548). One cluster is a mixture of bacteria primarily from the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla, and the second cluster is a mixture of *Lactobacillus* and *Gardnerella* genera. Notable genera in the Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes dominated cluster are *Escherichia/Shigella, Bacteroides*, and *Lactobacillus*.

We tested the relationship between the clinical observations of our participants and their urinary microbiomes. We found no relationship between urinary microbiome variation with cohort status (p-value = 0.76), vaginal product use (p-value = 1.0), or

estrogen use (p-value = 1.0). However, being post-menopausal did have a significant association with the urinary microbiome, where the Firmicutes-Bacteroidetes dominant cluster was predominantly post-menopausal (29 post-menopausal, 4 pre-menopausal) and the women in the *Lactobacillus/Gardnerella* dominant cluster have an even distribution of menopausal status (9 post-menopausal, 8 pre-menopausal) (p-value = 0.01).



Figure 1: Clustering of urinary microbiome is associated with menopausal status. Hierarchical clustering was performed using the Ward's minimum variance method on weighted UniFrac distances between samples. Dotted lines outline clusters that were chosen based on the Silhouette metric. Statistics performed by Fisher's exact test, comparing clinical observations of participants with their clustering group. Cases are labeled with yellow diamonds and controls are labeled as blue squares. Black squares underneath the dendrogram indicates the participant either claimed to use any vaginal product (VPROD), is post-menopausal (MENOP), or claimed to use any estrogen (ESTRO). White squares indicate the complement of the status, and a white square for MENOP indicates being premenopausal.

We similarly clustered the vaginal microbiome samples via hierarchical clustering using the weighted UniFrac distance (fig. 2). We also observed two groups when optimizing on the highest Silhouette metric (S = 0.611). One cluster is dominated by the *Lactobacillus* genus, and the second cluster is a mixture of *Lactobacillus*, *Gardnerella*, and *Escherichia/Shigella* genera. Participants with vaginal product use had a significant association with the clustering groups (p-value = 0.02). The distribution of vaginal product use was more evenly used among participants in the *Lactobacillus*-dominated cluster (14 no, 16 yes) versus the participants in the non-*Lactobacillus* dominant cluster (16 no, 4 yes). We found no relationship between cohort status (p-value = 1.0), being post-menopausal (pvalue = 0.74), or estrogen use (p-value = 0.22).



Figure 2: Clustering of vaginal microbiome is associated with any vaginal product use. Hierarchical clustering (top) was performed using the Ward's minimum variance method on weighted UniFrac distances between samples. Stacked bar plots (bottom) show relative abundance of vaginal microbiome of women with and without UUI. Dotted lines outline clusters that were chosen based on the Silhouette metric. Statistics performed by Fisher's exact test, comparing clinical observations of participants with their clustering group. Cases are labeled with yellow diamonds and controls are labeled as blue squares. Black squares underneath the dendrogram indicates the participant either claimed to use any vaginal product (VPROD), is post-menopausal (MENOP), or claimed to use any estrogen (ESTRO). White squares indicate the complement of the status, and a white square for MENOP indicates being premenopausal.

On our study, we did not detect any significant differences in alpha diversity

measures between our UUI and non-UUI in either the urinary or vaginal microbiomes. After

adjusting for age, menopause-estrogen status, and BMI, the alpha diversity of the urinary

microbiome does not differ between women with UUI and without UUI (fig. 3). Menopause-

estrogen status was divided into three groups: post-menopausal and supplementing with estrogen, post-menopausal and not supplementing with estrogen, and pre-menopausal. Similarly, for the vaginal microbiome, the alpha diversity also does not differ between women with UUI and without UUI (fig. 4).



Figure 3: Women with and without UUI do not differ in urinary microbiome diversity. Alpha diversity is visualized using box-and-whisker plots and measured using observed number of taxa, inverse Simpson, and Pielou evenness. A generalized linear model was used to adjust for age, BMI, and menopause-estrogen status.



Figure 4: Women with and without UUI do not differ in vaginal microbiome diversity. Alpha diversity is visualized using box-and-whisker plots and measured using observed number of taxa, inverse Simpson, and Pielou evenness. A generalized linear model was used to adjust for age, BMI, and menopause-estrogen status.

We did not detect any significant differences in beta diversity across multiple measures between UUI and non-UUI participants' urinary or vaginal microbiomes. For the urinary microbiome, the beta diversity variation does not differ between women with UUI and without UUI (fig. 5). A majority of the microbial composition variation is captured in the two axes of the principal coordinate plot (69.8% of the total distance). After adjusting for age, BMI, and menopause-estrogen status, a PERMANOVA analysis shows no difference between the urinary microbiome composition of women with UUI and without UUI (p-value = 0.23). Similarly, for the vaginal microbiome, the beta diversity similarly does not differ between women with UUI and without UUI (fig. 6). A majority of the microbial composition variation is captured in the two axes of the principal coordinate plot (74.7% of the total distance). After adjusting for age, BMI, and menopause-estrogen status, a PERMANOVA analysis shows no difference between the vaginal microbiome composition of women with UUI and without UUI (p-value = 0.71).



Figure 5: Variation of the urinary microbiome between women does not differ between UUI cases and controls. The ordination plot is a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) on weighted UniFrac distance. Permutation analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was used to test the relationship between microbiome composition and cohort status. Statistical analysis was adjusted for age, body-mass index, and menopause-estrogen status. Beta diversity was not significantly associated with cohort (p-value = 0.24). Shapes represents the cohort, where circles are women with UUI and triangles are women without UUI. Color represents a combination of menopause status and estrogen use status.



Figure 6: Variation of the vaginal microbiome between women does not differ between UUI cases and controls. The ordination plot is a principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) on weighted UniFrac distance. Permutation analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) was used to test the relationship between microbiome composition and cohort status. Statistical analysis was adjusted for age, body-mass index, and menopause-estrogen status. Beta diversity was not significantly associated with cohort (p-value = 0.80). Shapes represents the cohort where circles are women with UUI and triangles are women without UUI. Color represents a combination of menopause status and estrogen use status.

We performed differential abundance of genera in the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome (results not shown). After adjusting for clinical covariates age, BMI, menopause status, and estrogen use and correcting for multiple testing using Benjamini-Hochberg, no genera in either the urinary microbiome or vaginal microbiome was found to be differentially abundant between women with UUI and without UUI.

In order to explore potential subtypes within UUI, we only clustered the participants with UUI and identified three clusters (fig. 7). Out of all 25 clinical variables used in clustering, these three clusters of participants differed in age (p = 0.02), menopausal-status (p = 0.001), estrogen use (p < 0.001), and any vaginal product use (p < 0.001) (Table 4).

Two of the groups (both n=9) were generally older (median ages 64 and 68), had a lower BMI (median BMI 27.07 and 30.98), and were predominantly post-menopausal (100% and 88.9%) compared to the third group. The third group of two participants were younger (median age 43.50 years), had a higher BMI (median BMI 35.69), and were pre-menopausal.



Figure 7: Participants with UUI clustered based on clinical observations. Hierarchical clustering, using the Ward criterion, was used to cluster subjects. The distance matrix used the Gower's distance measure to account for both numerical and categorical information. Black squares underneath the dendrogram indicates the participant either claimed to use any vaginal product (VP), over the age of 60 year (AGE60), is post-menopausal (MP), or claimed to use any estrogen (EST). White squares indicate the complement of the status, and a white square for MENOP indicates being premenopausal.

| | C1 (n=9) | C2 (n=9) | C3 (n=2) | P-value |
|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|---------|
| Age (median, [IQR]) | 64 [60, 64] | 68 [67, 76] | 43.50 [43.24, 43.75] | 0.02 |
| BMI (median, [IQR]) | 27.07 [25.79, 30.04] | 30.89 [27.95, 32.92] | 35.69 [32.46, 38.92] | 0.366 |
| Menopause status (%) | | | | 0.001 |
| Post-Menopause | 9 (100%) | 8 (88.9%) | 0 (0%) | |
| Pre-Menopause | 0 (0%) | 1 (11.1%) | 2 (100%) | |
| Estrogen use (%) | | | | < 0.001 |
| No | 9 (100%) | 0 (0%) | 2 (100%) | |
| Yes | 0 (0%) | 9 (100%) | 0 (0%) | |
| Vaginal product use (%) | | | | <0.001 |
| No | 7 (77.8%) | 2 (22.2%) | 0 (0%) | |
| Yes | 2 (22.2%) | 7 (77.8%) | 2 (2%) | |

Table 4: Subject clustering based on clinical observations. Statistics performed by Kruskal-Wallis, comparing UUI cases to controls and displayed with the median and IQR. The Fisher's exact test was performed on categorical data and counts reported as number of individuals with corresponding demographic or condition. Bold rows are statistically significant between cohorts. IQR = interquartile range, BMI = body mass index.

To compare the relationship between having UUI and the urinary and vaginal microbiomes, we re-clustered the urinary and vaginal microbiome samples for only the UUI participants and compared the clusters with our groupings based on the clinical observations (Table 5). Each pair of clustered groups were not statistically different from random clustering (clinical/urinary p-value = 1.00; clinical/vaginal p-value = 1.00; urinary/vaginal p-value = 1.00). In other words, participants did not cluster into the same groups from one clustering to another using a different participant observation type

(clinical observations, urinary microbiome, and vaginal microbiome).

| | Urinary microbiome | | |
|---------------------|--------------------|-----|--|
| Clinical clustering | UM1 | UM2 | |
| С1 | 8 | 2 | |
| С2 | 7 | 1 | |
| СЗ | 2 | 0 | |

| Vaginal microbiom | | |
|---------------------|-----|------------|
| Clinical clustering | VM1 | <i>VM2</i> |
| С1 | 5 | 4 |
| С2 | 6 | 3 |
| СЗ | 1 | 1 |

| | Urinary microbiome | | |
|--------------------|--------------------|------------|--|
| Vaginal clustering | UM1 | <i>UM2</i> | |
| VM1 | 10 | 2 | |
| VM2 | 7 | 1 | |

Tables 5: Pairwise clustering comparisons among clustering groupings based on clinical observations, urinary microbiome, and vaginal microbiome. CX represents the different clusters identified clustering the clinical variables where "X" is a unique identifier for the cluster. Similarly, UMX and VMX are the cluster groups identified in the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome, respectively, with "X" being the unique identifier. Clinical/urinary comparison (p-value = 1.00); clinical/vaginal comparison (p-value = 1.00).

2.5 Discussion

In this pilot study, we characterized the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome of women with normal bladder function and women with UUI. Surprisingly, our results partially contradict previous results reported in the literature comparing control and UUI urinary microbiomes. Namely, we did not find that the urinary microbiome composition changes with UUI status. In addition, although the evidence for linking UUI and the vaginal microbiome is sparse, we similarly did not find evidence of a relationship between variation in the vaginal microbiomes of our control and UUI groups.

Women in the UUI group had a higher body mass index (BMI); this result is consistent with previous literature that obesity is associated with urgency urinary incontinence. Other risk factors associated with UUI are parity, previous hysterectomy or pelvic surgery, pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus, and nursing home admission or dementia (Coyne et al. 2013).

The difference in bladder behaviors between cohorts is consistent with our definition of UUI. The significant difference in the number of urge leaks is thus expected. Stress leaks are associated with another common urinary incontinence subtype, stress incontinence. This type of incontinence is leakage as a result of physical exertion. Often, these two subtypes, stress incontinence and urgency urinary incontinence coexist. Despite this fact, we did not see a significant difference in the number of stress leaks between women with UUI and without UUI (p-value = 0.291). Although night voiding is a common symptom among people with UUI, we do not see a significant difference in night voids in our UUI cohort (p-value = 0.054).

We were surprised to see that vaginal product use (douches, vaginal medications or suppositories, feminine sprays, genital wipes, contraceptive spermicides, and personal lubricants) was associated with our vaginal microbiome clustering analysis. There is a growing number of studies looking at the effect of vaginal product use on the vaginal microbiome. Recent studies have found that vaginal products can help inhibit uropathogenic bacteria (Hung et al. 2020). This may explain the *Lactobacillus* dominant cluster having more participants who used vaginal products.

Based on the clustering analysis, variation in the urinary microbiome composition was not associated with UUI status, vaginal product use, or estrogen use (fig. 1). However, urinary microbiome variation is associated with menopausal status. This relationship appears to be stronger than the effect of having UUI because the clustering based on the urinary microbiome is not associated with UUI status. The Firmicutes-Bacteroidetes

dominant cluster is pre-dominantly post-menopausal women, so that lack of a dominant *Lactobacillus* is consistent with previous findings (Curtiss et al. 2018).

No difference in all three alpha diversity measures between cohort microbiomes suggests that UUI is not associated to variation in either the urinary and vaginal microbiomes. Similarly, there was no statistically significant clustering of participant samples into women with UUI and without. This evidence is consistent with previous findings. Karstens et al. (2016) and Pearce et al. (2014) both were unable to detect large differences in sequence-based microbial diversity. Our study sample population size was greater than Karstens et al. (2016), but less than Pearce et al. (2014). In light of a smaller sample size, our results further suggest that the amount of microbial diversity in the urinary microbiome of women with UUI may not differ from women without UUI. Despite previous studies finding no significant difference in the microbial diversity of urine in women with UUI, individual bacterial differences were identified (Karstens et al. 2016; Pearce et al. 2014). Some possible explanations for the discrepant results are that our study had a smaller sample size, our study population is from the Pacific Northwest compare to the mid-west, our predominantly non-Hispanic Caucasian sample population, or our UUI participants were being treated with estrogen (Pearce et al. 2015, 2014; Thomas-White et al. 2015; Karstens et al. 2016).

2.6 Limitations

It is plausible that a number of limitations may influence our results. First, the demographics of this study can only generalize to Caucasian women around the ages of 60. Also, the UUI and non-UUI cohorts differ in BMI. We are thus unable to say whether BMI is related to potential microbial differences rather than the urinary symptomology because

increased BMI is a known risk factor for UUI. Future studies, with larger sample sizes and matched clinical covariates and greater ethnic diversity, will be required to evaluate these important differences. There is still a lack of studies that describe the female urinary microbiome in large, well-characterized populations. The vaginal microbiome is much more characterized in comparison. A limitation for survey data is that the data presented here is cross-sectional while longitudinal studies of the stability of these scores is unknown. Limitations of the stacked bar plot are that only large and dominant bacterial differences can be observed among samples. Differences in lower abundant bacteria among participant samples are difficult to identify. This is especially the case where most of the UUI cases and controls do not associate into a single cluster. This further suggests that there does not appear to be an association between the composition of the vaginal microbiome and UUI.

Another limitation with this analysis is that measures of microbial diversity reduce the complexities of a microbial community. Each microbial sample is summarized into a single number, which is taken as a measure of the health of a microbial system. However, this may not be the case. Plus, this ignores the ecological interactions that exist in a community, which will affect the microbial dynamics. Microbial diversity is a starting point to further understanding the extent of the microbiome's effects on human health and disease.

2.7 Conclusion

We characterized the vaginal microbiome and urinary microbiome of predominantly post-menopausal women to understand the connection between the vaginal and urinary microbiome with urgency urinary incontinence (UUI). The lack of clustering by UUI status suggests that there is not a global relationship between UUI and vaginal

microbiome composition or urinary microbiome composition. The urinary microbiome clusters significantly by menopause status, unlike the vaginal microbiome. However, the vaginal microbiome clusters significantly by vaginal product use. By their clinical observations, women with UUI cluster significantly by age, menopause status, estrogen use, and any vaginal product use. Finally, the lack of concordance between clustering the participants by clinical information, urinary microbiome, and vaginal microbiome suggests little relationship linking each of them together. Thus, our study does not provide evidence for a relationship between the variation in composition of the vaginal microbiome and having UUI. Our results are consistent with previous studies on the lack of evidence supporting changes in the diversity of urinary microbiome associated with UUI. However, our results contrast previous studies that identified differences in individual bacterial abundances in the urinary microbiome of women with UUI. There is still work to be done to further explore the relationship between UUI and the vaginal microbiome, along with the relationship between the urinary microbiome and the vaginal microbiome. Ultimately, understanding how UUI symptoms, the urinary microbiome, and vaginal microbiome coexist will improve our understanding to best treat women with UUI and other lower urinary tract symptoms.

3 Urinary and vaginal microbial co-occurrence and urgency urinary incontinence

3.1 Abstract

The state of the vaginal microbiome is known to contribute significantly to women's health. We're also increasing our understanding of the role the commensal urinary microbiome has on lower urinary tract symptoms. Markers of microbiome health and dysbiosis rely on diversity summary measures and identifying differentially abundant bacteria. These methods have expanded our understanding of how changes in these microbial communities are associated with disease. However, these current microbiome analytical methods do not fully account for the ecological interactions of constituent members of the microbial community, which may uncover subtle microbial community differences that are missed through microbial diversity indicators and differential abundance methods. Here we show that microbial co-occurrence networks can uncover known and emerging uropathogens in both the urinary microbiome and vaginal microbiome that are missed with traditional analytical methods. We found that the urinary microbiome of women with UUI have unique correlations between *Lactobacillus* and known genera associated with urinary tract infections and bacterial vaginosis such as *Campylobacter, Corynebacterium, Actinotigum, Aerococcus, Prevotella, and Escherichia/Shigella*. Similarly, we identified the genera *Aerococcus* as a central constituent bacteria in the vaginal microbiome co-occurrence network. The genera Aerococcus was also found to co-occur with *Gardnerella* and *Prevotella*, which are two bacteria known to cause bacterial vaginosis. Our results demonstrate the potential of using microbial co-occurrence networks to understand lower urinary tract symptoms and their relationship with the urinary and vaginal microbiomes. We anticipate our work to be a starting point for more

sophisticated and robust microbial network models of the urinary and vaginal microbiome ecology.

3.2 Introduction

Organisms exist with each other through known ecological interactions, such as mutualistic (win-win) and competitive (lose-lose) situations (Lidicker 1979). These interaction classifications also exist for microbial communities (Konopka 2009). The aggregate of these microbial community interactions has recently been explored and modeled using microbial co-occurrence networks in the human microbiome (Faust et al. 2012). These microbial networks allow us to uniquely identify key bacteria using the structure of the co-occurrence network to gain information about the community as a whole. Here we explore model the microbial co-occurrence of the urinary and vaginal microbiome in women with and without UUI.

3.3 Methods

The study population and design, DNA extraction and PCR amplification, and sequence processing, taxonomic assignment, and phylogenetic tree building are the same as those described in section 2.3.1, section 2.3.2, and section 2.3.3, respectively.

3.3.1 Network analysis

The abundance count table was processed using SparCC for composition-aware variation. SparCC accounts for the compositional nature of 16S rRNA data by performing a linear Pearson correlation on log-ratio transformed data (Friedman and Alm 2012). This transformation is beneficial because it retains the true abundance values as a ratio, which are independent of other taxa included in the data, and the transformation can take any value rather than being constrained to a fixed abundance. The SparCC method was

performed as implemented in the sparcc function with default parameters in the SpiecEasi package (version 1.0.7) (Kurtz et al. 2019). Network analyses were performed using the R packages tidygraph (version 1.2.0) (Pedersen 2020b), with the underlying functionality of igraph (version 1.2.5) (Csardi and Nepusz 2006), and visualized using the R package ggraph (version 2.0.3) (Pedersen 2020a). Community detection was performed using the InfoMap community detection algorithm, which minimizes the expected description length of a random walker along the network, as implemented in cluster_infomap in the R package igraph (version 1.2.5) (Rosvall and Bergstrom 2008; Csardi and Nepusz 2006).

A permutation analysis was used on all UUI case and control vaginal microbiome data to determine a correlation threshold by shuffling the sample labels for each genera in a pairwise comparison prior to calculating correlations. A similar permutation was performed separately on the urinary microbiome data. This permutation analysis generates a null distribution of correlations from which to identify a threshold of correlations for downstream analyses. A permutation of 1000 trials was performed and a threshold of the top 5% of the null distribution was used to determine a correlation cut off for each the vaginal microbiome (correlations > 0.23) and urinary microbiome data (correlations > 0.22). Only positive correlations were considered for the network analysis.

3.4 Results

We inferred two urinary microbial interaction networks by analyzing 20 women with UUI and 30 women without UUI (fig. 8, Table 6). The UUI network had fewer genera in the connected network (93 genera in UUI versus 135 genera in controls) and fewer unique bacterial co-occurrences (624 associations in UUI versus 763 associations in controls). The

basic structure of the urinary microbiome network showed 4 clustered subgroups of bacteria for women with UUI and 9 clusters for women without UUI. Visually and quantitatively using modularity and connectance, we see that the control urinary microbial network is more clustered into smaller microbial groups, which may suggest more specialized microbial niches. We also observe a difference in how the bacterial phyla associate with each other in the network (p-value < 0.001) (fig. 9).



Figure 8: Network visualization of urinary microbiome in UUI and healthy controls. This shows the urinary microbiome co-occurrence network, one for the case subjects (left) and one for the control subjects (right). The bacterial genera here are shown as circles, colored by communities of bacteria identified using the InfoMap algorithm, and connected by the SparCC correlation. Each edge represents a significant co-occurrence relationship greater than a correlation of 0.22 defined by a permutation analysis. Only positive relationships are shown.

| | Interpretation | Case | Control |
|------------------------|--|------|---------|
| Number of nodes | Space of co-occurring bacteria to consider | 93 | 135 |
| Number of edges | Number of co-occurrence relationships | 624 | 763 |
| Modularity | Measure of community detection | 0.46 | 0.60 |
| Normalized connectance | Complexity of system | 0.15 | 0.09 |

Table 6: Network statistics for urinary microbiome networks across cohorts.



Figure 9: Urinary bacterial phyla associate differently in UUI versus healthy controls. This hive plot orients the different phyla on the axes. Only the top four phyla are shown and the remaining phyla are collapsed into "Other". Correlations limited to greater than 0.5 for visualization purposes.

We explored key urinary bacteria in each of the UUI and control urinary microbial networks using the betweenness centrality measure (Table 7). We found the *Lactobacillus* genera to be more central in both UUI and controls. Because of the previously known prevalence of *Lactobacillus* in the commensal urinary microbiome, our observation of *Lactobacillus* here as a key bacteria to the microbial community structure is a promising positive control for our network-based approach.

Because *Lactobacillus* is central to both UUI and non-UUI networks, we explored the microbial associations between the *Lactobacillus* genera and other genera in each cohort

(fig. 10). We found 25 unique genera in UUI and 16 unique genera in the controls that associated with *Lactobacillus* in their respective networks. Both networks shared a total of 10 common genera that associated with *Lactobacillus*. Among the unique associated genera in UUI, we found that at least a quarter of them are known uropathogens associated with urinary tract infections (Table 8).

| | Cohort | Phylum | Genus | Betweenness |
|---|---------|----------------|--------------------|-------------|
| 1 | UUI | Firmicutes | Lactobacillus | 0.19 |
| 2 | UUI | Firmicutes | Agathobacter | 0.07 |
| 3 | UUI | Firmicutes | Incertae_Sedis | 0.06 |
| 4 | UUI | Actinobacteria | Bifidobacterium | 0.04 |
| 5 | UUI | Proteobacteria | Azomonas | 0.04 |
| 1 | Control | Firmicutes | Lactobacillus | 0.12 |
| 2 | Control | Firmicutes | Veillonella | 0.10 |
| 3 | Control | Firmicutes | Agathobacter | 0.07 |
| 4 | Control | Actinobacteria | Corynebacterium | 0.07 |
| 5 | Control | Firmicutes | Psuedobutyrivirbio | 0.07 |

Table 7: Network statistics for urinary microbiome networks across cohorts. Betweenness = betweenness centrality, UUI = urgency urinary incontinence.



Figure 10: Overlap of bacteria correlated with *Lactobacillus* in UUI and controls.

| Correlation | Phylum | Genus |
|-------------|----------------|----------------------|
| 0.49 | Proteobacteria | Campylobacter |
| 0.40 | Actinobacteria | Corynebacterium |
| 0.38 | Actinobacteria | Actinotignum |
| 0.35 | Tenericutes | Ureaplasma |
| 0.34 | Firmicutes | Dialister |
| 0.32 | Firmicutes | Aerococcus |
| 0.26 | Bacteroidetes | Prevotella |
| 0.25 | Proteobacteria | Escherichia/Shigella |

Table 8: Notable urinary bacteria correlated with Lactobacillus in UUI are associated with urinary tract infections.

Additionally, we inferred two vaginal microbiome-wide microbial interaction networks of the 20 women with UUI and 30 women without UUI (fig. 11, Table 9). The UUI network had similar number of genera in the connected network (60 genera in UUI versus 58 genera in controls) but more unique bacterial co-occurrences (396 associations in UUI versus 195 associations in controls). The number of clusters in the vaginal microbiome network were similar between cohorts, where the UUI network clustered into 5 subgroups of bacteria and 6 clusters for women without UUI. Visually and quantitatively using modularity and connectance, we see that the control urinary microbial network is more clustered into smaller microbial groups, which may suggest more specialized microbial niches. We also observed a difference in how the bacterial phyla associate with each other in the network (p-value < 0.001) (fig. 12).



Figure 11: Network visualization of vaginal microbiome in UUI and healthy controls. This shows the vaginal microbiome co-occurrence network, one for the case subjects (left) and one for the control subjects (right). The bacterial genera here are shown as circles, colored by communities of bacteria identified using the InfoMap algorithm, and connected by the SparCC correlation. Each edge represents a significant co-occurrence relationship greater than a correlation of 0.23 defined by a permutation analysis. Only positive relationships are shown.

| | Interpretation | Case | Control |
|------------------------|--|------|---------|
| Number of nodes | Space of co-occurring bacteria to consider | 60 | 58 |
| Number of edges | Number of co-occurrence relationships | 396 | 195 |
| Modularity | Measure of community detection | 0.50 | 0.59 |
| Normalized connectance | Complexity of system | 0.23 | 0.12 |

Table 9: Network statistics for vaginal microbiome networks across cohorts.



Figure 12: Vaginal bacterial phyla associate differently in UUI versus healthy controls. This hive plot orients the different phyla on the axes. Only the top four phyla are shown and the remaining phyla are collapsed into "Other". Correlations limited to greater than 0.5 for visualization purposes.

We explored central vaginal bacteria in each of the UUI and control vaginal microbial networks using the betweenness centrality measure (Table 10). Unlike the urinary microbiome network (Table 6), we did not find *Lactobacillus* as being central to both the UUI and control networks, but only for the control network. Because of the dominance and clinical importance of *Lactobacillus* in the commensal vaginal microbiome, observing *Lactobacillus* as a central bacteria to the microbial community structure is another promising positive control for our network-based approach.

Because the *Aerococcus* genus is central to our vaginal microbial network in UUI and it is a known uropathogen associated with urinary tract infections (Zhang et al. 2000; Hilt et al. 2020), we explored its surrounding bacterial connections in our network (Table 11). We found that the two top average relative abundant genera that *Aerococcus* was associated with, *Gardnerella* and *Prevotella*, are both together associated with bacterial vaginosis (Randis and Ratner 2019).

| Cohort | Phylum | Genus | Betweenness |
|---------|----------------|------------------------|-------------|
| UUI | Firmicutes | Aerococcus | 0.33 |
| UUI | Firmicutes | Streptococcus | 0.19 |
| UUI | Proteobacteria | Mannheimia | 0.15 |
| UUI | Bacteroidetes | Bacteroides | 0.15 |
| UUI | Bacteroidetes | Prevotellaceae_UCG-001 | 0.15 |
| Control | Firmicutes | Lactobacillus | 0.20 |
| Control | Fusobacteria | Fusobacterium | 0.14 |
| Control | Firmicutes | Faecalibacterium | 0.13 |
| Control | Firmicutes | Parvimonas | 0.13 |
| Control | Firmicutes | Staphylococcus | 0.12 |

Table 10: Network statistics for vaginal microbiome networks across cohorts. Betweenness = betweenness centrality, UUI = urgency urinary incontinence.

| Phylum, Genus | Average relative abundance (%) |
|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Actinobacteria, Gardnerella | 7.47 |
| Bacteroidetes, Prevotella | 4.01 |
| Bacteroidetes, Bacteroides | 1.35 |
| Bacteroidetes, Prevotellaceae_UCG-001 | 0.89 |
| Firmicutes, Ruminiclostridium_6 | 0.45 |
| Firmicutes, Staphylococcus | 0.27 |
| Fusobacteria, Streptobacillus | 0.15 |
| Actinobacteria, Actinomyces | 0.10 |
| Firmicutes, Helcococcus | 0.04 |

Table 11: Connections with Aerococcus in the vaginal microbiome of UUI cases. Average relative abundance was calculated based on UUI case samples.

3.5 Discussion

We constructed microbial co-occurrence networks for both the urinary and vaginal microbiomes of women with UUI and without. We found that the control networks had more bacteria clustered in smaller groups than in the UUI case networks. These networks being more clustered into these smaller groups suggests a putative structure among the clustered bacteria which may have evolutionary and functional synergy. In other words, microbes that are closely related may compete more for resources, while a more modular community with complementary functions would exhibit mutualistic behaviors that are worth exploring further.

In both the urinary and vaginal microbiome networks, we found *Lactobacillus* to be a central microbial player in the network structure. This is consistent with previous findings (Pearce et al. 2014; Ravel et al. 2011). For the urinary microbiome of women with UUI, we found positive correlations between *Lactobacillus* and a number of bacteria that are known to or are gaining evidence to be associated with urinary tract infections. Adjacent to the urinary microbiome, we found the genus *Aerococcus* as most central to the microbial community structure of the vaginal microbiome of women with UUI. It is notable that *Aerococcus* has recently been isolated from the bladders of women with urinary tract symptoms (Hilt et al. 2020). Although *Aerococcus* was not directly found in the bladder, the vaginal microbiome is recognized as a key anatomical site for the pathogenesis of urinary tract infections (Stapleton 2016) and is shown to have similar functional capacities with the urinary microbiome (Thomas-White, et al. 2018). This further suggests the possible transmission of the vaginal microbiome to seed the urinary microbiome with uropathogens that are associated with urgency urinary incontinence.

3.6 Limitations

It is plausible that a number of limitations could have influenced the results obtained. Small sample sizes reduce our power to identify results and increase the amount of noise in our data. This is especially true for microbiome data that is sparse, meaning most of the microbes are not present across all the samples. This sparsity can cause issues when

calculating correlations because low number of samples per pairwise correlation can artificially inflate the strength of a correlation with a small number of samples.

Compositional data analysis is an up-and-coming area of research to be applied to the microbiome (Gloor et al. 2017). The work here presents and uses a compositional aware network method, SparCC, to generate the microbial networks. Although this is a good first step, there needs to be further work on studying the influence of compositional data on such low biomass microbiomes. Current studies of compositional data methods are typically performed on high biomass microbiomes, such as the gut microbiome. However, we don't fully understand the implications of these methods being done on a differently structured microbiome, such as the urinary microbiome or vaginal microbiome.

Additional limitations include the lack of functional information annotated on these bacteria and the lack of temporal information. Bacterial function would enrich this analysis to better understand relationships among the bacteria and how or why they may co-occur with each other. This strengthens the hypothesis that those co-occurring bacteria complement each other evolutionarily or functionally.

3.7 Conclusion

We modeled the vaginal microbiome and urinary microbiomes of pre-dominantly post-menopausal women to understand microbial associations within the vaginal microbiome and within urinary microbiome to identify important bacteria to the microbiome structure that are associated with urgency urinary incontinence (UUI). There is still work to be done to further explore the range of possibilities to use network-based analyses to deepen our understanding of bacterial associations and their relationship with UUI. Ultimately, understanding how UUI symptoms, the urinary microbiome community
structure, and the vaginal microbiome community structure will improve our understanding to best treat women with UUI and other lower urinary tract symptoms.

4 Discussion and conclusions

We characterized the vaginal microbiome and urinary microbiomes using traditional bioinformatic methods and explored the utility of microbial co-occurrence networks to understand urgency urinary incontinence in women. The initial evidence from the traditional analysis suggests that there is no link with either the urinary microbiome or vaginal microbiome and urgency urinary incontinence. The reason for this rather contradictory result is still not entirely clear, but may be due to our study population having more estrogen treatments compared to other studies. Despite these contradictory results, our network analysis shows promising insights into other differences not apparent through traditional microbial diversity or differential abundance methods. In the urinary microbiome of women with UUI, we found bacteria associated with Lactobacillus to be known uropathogens for urinary tract infections. Moreover, we found the vaginal microbiome of women with UUI to have a known uropathogen associated with urinary tract infections, Aerococcus, to be central to the microbial community. Our results demonstrate the potential of using microbial co-occurrence networks to understand lower urinary tract symptoms and their relationship with the urinary and vaginal microbiomes. We anticipate our work to be a starting point for more sophisticated and robust microbial network models of the urinary and vaginal microbiome ecological states.

5 Future work

There are a number of directions this work can take. These next steps include: connecting the urinary and vaginal networks to create an integrated urogenital network, robust testing the microbial co-occurrence networks in low biomass environments, and incorporating negative correlations into the network analysis. After these steps are evaluated, an orthogonal direction to explore is temporal networks in how these microbial networks change over time. And ultimately, these results will need to be experimentally validated in the lab, starting with small triplets of bacteria unique to UUI that may influence UUI symptoms.

5.1 Interconnected urogenital microbial co-occurrence network

We have two networks, a urinary and vaginal microbiome co-occurrence network. It may be fruitful to explore the interconnected nature of the urogenital microbiome by constructing a single network comprised of both the urinary and vaginal microbiome. This can be limited to just interactions between the two microbiomes, which can be modeled using a bipartite graph. To make this mode tractable, focusing on putative clusters in each microbiome can reduce the computational overhead of this analysis. Removing this restriction can be explored to identify co-occurring urinary and vaginal bacteria. While these two sets of bacteria might not interact, they still co-occur with each other and may have a biological link between them. A first step in understanding the relationship between these two microbiomes is to perform a Mantel test¹⁸ to test the correlations between the distance matrices constructed for each of these microbiomes. This tests whether the

¹⁸ See https://mb3is.megx.net/gustame/hypothesis-tests/the-mantel-test.

variation in one microbiome (e.g., urinary microbiome) is associated with the variation in the other microbiome (e.g., vaginal microbiome). Furthermore, a canonical correlation analysis (CCA)¹⁹ can be performed to understand the relationship between the microbiome and clinical information, similar to work shown in Komesu et al. (2020).

5.2 Explore other correlation methods applied to low-biomass microbiomes

Although the work presented here works with low-biomass microbiomes, this was not an in-depth benchmarking of network methods applied to low-biomass environments. There are many network methods to choose from and there may be more appropriate methods to be applied. Additionally, most of these network methods have been tested and developed with higher biomass microbiomes. Some of those assumptions may not apply to lower biomass microbiomes. Lower biomass microbiomes have increased sparsity, which will need to be explored and addressed.

5.3 Negative correlations

Negative correlations were unexplored in this work. These correlations can be thought of co-exclusion patterns. A simple measure to explore is the utility of the positiveto-negative ratio of correlations (Ma 2017). Another measure and technique that can be explored is the utility of co-exclusion-specific tools (Albayrak et al. 2018).

5.4 Temporal networks

The microbiome is always changing. It is known that the vaginal microbiome fluctuates with hormonal cycle, contraceptives, diet, and exercise (Song et al. 2020). A

¹⁹ See https://mb3is.megx.net/gustame/constrained-analyses/cca.

natural extension of the work presented in Chapter 3 is to explore network variations over time using temporal networks (Li et al. 2017). There already is R code and instruction to explore temporal networks (Brey 2018).

5.5 Construct networks based on urotype and community state type

The urinary and vaginal microbiome have been shown to have subtypes. These subtypes are based on dominant bacteria in an individual's microbiome. In the vaginal microbiome these subtypes, or community state types, have clinical and research utility such as being a good predictive indicator of bacterial vaginosis (Seta et al. 2019). Similarly, the urinary microbiome can be classified into subtypes, or urotypes, which indicate some susceptibility to diseases like bacterial vaginosis (Gottschick et al. 2017). Based on this information, it may be worthwhile to explore the network variation among these different subtypes and what those implications may be.

5.6 Focus on disease and pathogen networks

The work presented in Chapter 3 is a first application in using networks to the urinary microbiome and growing applications to the vaginal microbiome. Poudel et al. (2016) have proposed a framework for identifying candidate microbial assemblages for disease. This framework consists of four network analyses: a general network analysis (similar to the work presented in Chapter 3), host-focused analysis to relate features of the microbial network with host-based information, pathogen-focused analysis to *a priori* focus on known pathogens in the network, and a disease-focused network (similar to the work presented in Chapter 3). Work that can be done here is to formalize this framework for human microbiome networks because the original paper was directed to plant pathology and management.

76

5.7 Consensus network from multiple methods

There are a plethora of network methods available (Jiang et al. 2019). However, it is difficult to know which set of networks is the most accurate. Crowdsourcing construction of gene regulation networks have proved successful (Prill et al. 2011). This approach can also be applied to microbial network construction to identify a biologically meaningful and tractable model of microbial communities.

5.8 In vitro validation of microbial interactions

We now have putative interactions and communities from the urinary and vaginal microbiomes. These are *in silico* results and will still need to be experimentally validated. We can combine *in silico* and *in vitro* results to validate our findings. Because of the unique and fastidious nature of the urinary microbiome, it may prove to be difficult to appropriately engineer a culture medium to effectively grow these bacteria. It may be advantageous to explore computational methods to hypothesize and optimize appropriate media for urogenital microbe growth using databases such as a Known Media Database (KOMODO) (Oberhardt et al. 2015).

Ideally, the results of these work will be experimentally validated *in vitro* by taking pairs or triples of bacteria to grow together in order to observe their ecological interactions. Previous work shows exploring ecological interactions by measuring metabolic output using small numbers of bacteria together (Medlock et al. 2018). Similarly, there are model microbiome communities that can be used to explore constrained microbiome interactions for results presented here (Lozano et al. 2019).

77

6 References

- Aagaard, Kjersti, Joseph Petrosino, Wendy Keitel, Mark Watson, James Katancik, Nathalia Garcia, Shital Patel, et al. 2013. "The Human Microbiome Project Strategy for Comprehensive Sampling of the Human Microbiome and Why It Matters." *The FASEB Journal* 27 (3): 1012–22. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.12-220806.
- Abrams, Paul, Linda Cardozo, Magnus Fall, Derek Griffiths, Peter Rosier, Ulf Ulmsten, Philip van Kerrebroeck, Arne Victor, and Alan Wein. 2002. "The Standardisation of Terminology of Lower Urinary Tract Function: Report from the Standardisation Sub-Committee of the International Continence Society." *Neurourology and Urodynamics* 21 (2): 167– 78. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.10052.
- 3. Albayrak, Levent, Kamil Khanipov, George Golovko, and Yuriy Fofanov. 2018. "Detection of Multi-Dimensional Co-Exclusion Patterns in Microbial Communities." Edited by Oliver Stegle. *Bioinformatics* 34 (21): 3695–3701. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty414.
- American Urogynecologic Society (AUGS) Guidelines Committee with the assistance of Tonya N. Thomas, MD, and Mark D. 2017. "AUGS Consensus Statement: Association of Anticholinergic Medication Use and Cognition in Women with Overactive Bladder." *Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery* 23 (3). https://doi.org/10.1097/SPV.0000000000042.
- 5. Anderson, Marti J. 2001. "A New Method for Non-Parametric Multivariate Analysis of Variance." *Austral Ecology* 26 (1): 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x.
- Antwis, Rachael E., Sarah M. Griffiths, Xavier A. Harrison, Paz Aranega-Bou, Andres Arce, Aimee S. Bettridge, Francesca L. Brailsford, et al. 2017. "Fifty Important Research Questions in Microbial Ecology." *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 93 (5). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix044.
- Aoki, Yoshitaka, Heidi W Brown, Linda Brubaker, Jean Nicolas Cornu, J Oliver Daly, and Rufus Cartwright. 2017. "Urinary Incontinence in Women." *Nature Reviews Disease Primers* 3 (1): 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.42.
- Apostolidis, Apostolos, Prokar Dasgupta, and Clare J. Fowler. 2006. "Proposed Mechanism for the Efficacy of Injected Botulinum Toxin in the Treatment of Human Detrusor Overactivity." *European Urology* 49 (4): 644–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2005.12.010.
- Avery, Kerry, Jenny Donovan, Tim J. Peters, Christine Shaw, Momokazu Gotoh, and Paul Abrams. 2004. "ICIQ: A Brief and Robust Measure for Evaluating the Symptoms and Impact of Urinary Incontinence." *Neurourology and Urodynamics* 23 (4): 322–30. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20041.
 Barber, M. D., M. D. Walters, and R. C. Bump. 2005. "Short Forms of Two Condition-Specific Quality-of-Life
- Barber, M. D., M. D. Walters, and R. C. Bump. 2005. "Short Forms of Two Condition-Specific Quality-of-Life Questionnaires for Women with Pelvic Floor Disorders (PFDI-20 and PFIQ-7)." *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 193 (1): 103–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2004.12.025.
- Benjamini, Yoav, and Yosef Hochberg. 1995. "Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing." *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)* 57 (1): 289–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x.
- 12. Bent SJ, Forney LJ. The tragedy of the uncommon: understanding limitations in the analysis of microbial diversity. ISME J. 2008 Jul;2(7):689-95. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2008.44. Epub 2008 May 8. PMID: 18463690. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2008.44.
- Bertrand, Jean-Claude, Pierre Caumette, Philippe Lebaron, and Philippe Normand. 2014. "The Thematic Fields of Microbial Ecology." *Environmental Microbiology: Fundamentals and Applications*, July, 3–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9118-2_1.
- Borello-France, Diane, Kathryn L. Burgio, Patricia S. Goode, Alayne D. Markland, Kimberly Kenton, Aarthi Balasubramanyam, and Anne M. Stoddard. 2010. "Adherence to Behavioral Interventions for Urge Incontinence When Combined with Drug Therapy: Adherence Rates, Barriers, and Predictors." *Physical Therapy* 90 (10): 1493–1505. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20080387.
- 15. Brey, Alex. 2018. "Temporal Network Analysis with R." Edited by Matthew Lincoln. *The Programming Historian*, no. 7 (November). https://doi.org/10.46430/phen0080.
- Brubaker, Linda, Charles W Nager, Holly E Richter, Anthony Visco, Ingrid Nygaard, Matthew D Barber, Joseph Schaffer, et al. 2014. "Urinary Bacteria in Adult Women with Urgency Urinary Incontinence." *International Urogynecology Journal* 25 (9): 1179–84. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007%2Fs00192-013-2325-2.
- 17. Callahan, Benjamin J, Paul J McMurdie, Michael J Rosen, Andrew W Han, Amy Jo A Johnson, and Susan P Holmes. 2016. "DADA2: High-Resolution Sample Inference from Illumina Amplicon Data." *Nature Methods* 13 (7): 581–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869.
- Caporaso, J Gregory, Christian L Lauber, William A Walters, Donna Berg-Lyons, James Huntley, Noah Fierer, Sarah M Owens, et al. 2012. "Ultra-High-Throughput Microbial Community Analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq Platforms." *The ISME Journal* 6 (8): 1621–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.8.
- Chapple, Christopher, Karl-Dietrich Sievert, Scott MacDiarmid, Vik Khullar, Piotr Radziszewski, Christopher Nardo, Catherine Thompson, Jihao Zhou, and Cornelia Haag-Molkenteller. 2013. "OnabutulinumtoxinA 100 U Significantly Improves All Idiopathic Overactive Bladder Symptoms and Quality of Life in Patients with Overactive Bladder and Urinary Incontinence: A Randomised, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial." *European Urology* 64 (2): 249–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2013.04.001.

- Corcos, Jacques, Mikolaj Przydacz, Lysanne Campeau, Gary Gray, Duane Hickling, Christiane Honeine, Sidney B. Radomski, Lynn Stothers, and Adrian Wagg. 2017. "CUA Guideline on Adult Overactive Bladder." *Canadian Urological Association Journal* 11 (5): 142. https://doi.org/10.5489/cuaj.4586.
- Coupland, Carol AC, Trevor Hill, Tom Dening, Richard Morriss, Michael Moore, and Julia Hippisley-Cox. 2019. "Anticholinergic Drug Exposure and the Risk of Dementia: A Nested Case-Control Study." *JAMA Internal Medicine* 179 (8): 1084–93. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2019.0677.
- 22. Coyne, K, D Revicki, T Hunt, R Corey, W Stewart, Jetal Bentkover, H Kurth, and P Abrams. 2002. "Psychometric Validation of an Overactive Bladder Symptom and Health-Related Quality of Life Questionnaire: The OAB-q." *Quality of Life Research* 11 (6): 563–74. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1016370925601.
- Coyne, K. S., A. Wein, S. Nicholson, M. Kvasz, C.-I. Chen, and I. Milsom. 2013. "Comorbidities and Personal Burden of Urgency Urinary Incontinence: A Systematic Review." *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 67 (10): 1015–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.12164.
- 24. Coyte, Katharine Z, Jonas Schluter, and Kevin R Foster. 2015. "The Ecology of the Microbiome: Networks, Competition, and Stability." *Science* 350 (6261): 663–66. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad2602.
- 25. Csardi, Gabor, and Tamas Nepusz. 2006. "The igraph Software Package for Complex Network Research." *InterJournal* Complex Systems: 1695. http://igraph.org.
- Curtiss, Natasha, Aswini Balachandran, Louise Krska, Claire Peppiatt-Wildman, Scott Wildman, and Jonathan Duckett. 2018. "Age, Menopausal Status and the Bladder Microbiome." *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology* 228 (September): 126–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejogrb.2018.06.011.
- 27. Davies, Julian. 2001. "In a Map for Human Life, Count the Microbes, Too." *Science* 291 (5512): 2316–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.291.5512.2316b.
- Davis, Nicole M, Diana Proctor, Susan P Holmes, David A Relman, and Benjamin J Callahan. 2017. "Simple Statistical Identification and Removal of Contaminant Sequences in Marker-Gene and Metagenomics Data," November. https://doi.org/10.1101/221499.
- 29. Delzenne, Nathalie M, and Patrice D Cani. 2011. "Interaction Between Obesity and the Gut Microbiota: Relevance in Nutrition." *Annual Review of Nutrition* 31: 15–31. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-nutr-072610-145146.
- 30. Dethlefsen, Les, Margaret McFall-Ngai, and David A. Relman. 2007. "An Ecological and Evolutionary Perspective on Human-Microbe Mutualism and Disease." *Nature* 449 (7164): 811–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06245.
- 31. Dickson, Robert P, John R Erb-Downward, and Gary B Huffnagle. 2013. "The Role of the Bacterial Microbiome in Lung Disease." *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine* 7 (3): 245–57. https://doi.org/10.1586/ers.13.24.
- Dmochowski, Roger R., Steven W. Sanders, Rodney A. Appell, Victor W. Nitti, and G. Willy Davila. 2005. "Bladder-Health Diaries: An Assessment of 3-Day Vs 7-Day Entries." *BJU International* 96 (7): 1049–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410x.2005.05785.x.
- Donders, Gilbert. 2010. "Diagnosis and Management of Bacterial Vaginosis and Other Types of Abnormal Vaginal Bacterial Flora: A Review." *Obstetrical & Gynecological Survey* 65 (7): 462–73. https://doi.org/10.1097/ogx.0b013e3181e09621.
- Dugan, E, SJ Cohen, D Robinson, R Anderson, J Preisser, P Suggs, K Pearce, U Poehilng, and P McGann. 1998. "The Quality of Life of Older Adults with Urinary Incontinence: Determining Generic and Condition-Specific Predictors." *Quality of Life Research* 7 (4): 337–44. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024938014606.
- 35. Elstad, Emily A, Simone P Taubenberger, Elizabeth M Botelho, and Sharon L Tennstedt. 2010. "Beyond Incontinence: The Stigma of Other Urinary Symptoms." *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 66 (11): 2460–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05422.x.
- Faust, Karoline, J. Fah Sathirapongsasuti, Jacques Izard, Nicola Segata, Dirk Gevers, Jeroen Raes, and Curtis Huttenhower. 2012. "Microbial Co-Occurrence Relationships in the Human Microbiome." Edited by Christos A. Editor Ouzounis. *PLoS Computational Biology* 8 (7): e1002606. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002606.
- 37. Finotello, Francesca, Eleonora Mastrorilli, and Barbara Di Camillo. 2016. "Measuring the Diversity of the Human Microbiota with Targeted Next-Generation Sequencing." *Briefings in Bioinformatics*, December, bbw119. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbw119.
- Friedman, Jonathan, and Eric J. Alm. 2012. "Inferring Correlation Networks from Genomic Survey Data." Edited by ChristianEditor von Mering. *PLoS Computational Biology* 8 (9): e1002687. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002687.
- 39. Galili, Tal. 2015. "Dendextend: An R Package for Visualizing, Adjusting and Comparing Trees of Hierarchical Clustering." *Bioinformatics* 31 (22): 3718–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btv428.
- Gevers, Dirk, Mihai Pop, Patrick D. Schloss, and Curtis Huttenhower. 2012. "Bioinformatics for the Human Microbiome Project." Edited by Jonathan A. Editor Eisen. *PLoS Computational Biology* 8 (11): e1002779. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002779.
- 41. Gilbert, Jack A., and Susan V. Lynch. 2019. "Community Ecology as a Framework for Human Microbiome Research." *Nature Medicine* 25 (6): 884–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0464-9.
- 42. Gilbert, Jack A., and Josh D. Neufeld. 2014. "Life in a World Without Microbes." *PLoS Biology* 12 (12): e1002020. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002020.

- Gloor, Gregory B., Jean M. Macklaim, Vera Pawlowsky-Glahn, and Juan J. Egozcue. 2017. "Microbiome Datasets Are Compositional: And This Is Not Optional." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 8 (November). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02224.
- Gormley, E. Ann, Deborah J. Lightner, Martha Faraday, and Sandip Prasan Vasavada. 2015. "Diagnosis and Treatment of Overactive Bladder (Non-Neurogenic) in Adults: AUA/SUFU Guideline Amendment." *The Journal of Urology* 193 (5): 1572–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2015.01.087.
- 45. Gottschick, Cornelia, Zhi-Luo Deng, Marius Vital, Clarissa Masur, Christoph Abels, Dietmar H. Pieper, and Irene Wagner-Döbler. 2017. "The Urinary Microbiota of Men and Women and Its Changes in Women During Bacterial Vaginosis and Antibiotic Treatment." *Microbiome* 5 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0305-3.
- 46. Gower, John C. 1971. "A General Coefficient of Similarity and Some of Its Properties." *Biometrics*, 857–71. https://doi.org/10.2307/2528823.
- 47. Gray, Shelly L, Melissa L Anderson, Sascha Dublin, Joseph T Hanlon, Rebecca Hubbard, Rod Walker, Onchee Yu, Paul K Crane, and Eric B Larson. 2015. "Cumulative Use of Strong Anticholinergics and Incident Dementia: A Prospective Cohort Study." JAMA Internal Medicine 175 (3): 401–7. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.7663.
- Hartmann, Katherine E, Melissa L McPheeters, Daniel H Biller, Renée M Ward, J Nikki McKoy, Rebecca N Jerome, Sandra R Micucci, et al. 2009. "Treatment of Overactive Bladder in Women." *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep)* 187 (187): 1–120. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/pmc4781496/.
- 49. Haylen, Bernard T., Dirk de Ridder, Robert M. Freeman, Steven E. Swift, Bary Berghmans, Joseph Lee, Ash Monga, et al. 2009. "An International Urogynecological Association (IUGA)/International Continence Society (ICS) Joint Report on the Terminology for Female Pelvic Floor Dysfunction." *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 4–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20798.
- Hilt, E. E., K. McKinley, M. M. Pearce, A. B. Rosenfeld, M. J. Zilliox, E. R. Mueller, L. Brubaker, X. Gai, A. J. Wolfe, and P. C. Schreckenberger. 2014. "Urine Is Not Sterile: Use of Enhanced Urine Culture Techniques to Detect Resident Bacterial Flora in the Adult Female Bladder." *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 52 (3): 871–76. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.02876-13.
- Hilt, Evann E, Catherine Putonti, Krystal Thomas-White, Amanda L Lewis, Karen L Visick, Nicole M Gilbert, and Alan J Wolfe. 2020. "Aerococcus Urinae Isolated from Women with Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms: In Vitro Aggregation and Genome Analysis." *Journal of Bacteriology* 202 (13). https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00170-20.
- Hu, Teh-Wei, Todd H Wagner, Judith D Bentkover, Kristi LeBlanc, Amy Piancentini, Walter F Stewart, Ron Corey, Steve Z Zhou, and Timothy L Hunt. 2003. "Estimated Economic Costs of Overactive Bladder in the United States." Urology 61 (6): 1123–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0090-4295(03)00009-8.
- Hung, Kristin J., Patricia L. Hudson, Agnes Bergerat, Helai Hesham, Namit Choksi, and Caroline Mitchell. 2020. "Effect of Commercial Vaginal Products on the Growth of Uropathogenic and Commensal Vaginal Bacteria." *Scientific Reports* 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-63652-x.
- 54. Hyman, R. W., M. Fukushima, L. Diamond, J. Kumm, L. C. Giudice, and R. W. Davis. 2005. "Microbes on the Human Vaginal Epithelium." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 102 (22): 7952–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0503236102.
- 55. "International Neuromodulation Society." n.d. https://www.neuromodulation.com/.
- 56. Jiang, Duo, Courtney Rae Armour, Chenxiao Hu, Meng Mei, Chuan Tian, Thomas Jefferson Sharpton, and Yuan Jiang. 2019. "Microbiome Multi-Omics Network Analysis: Statistical Considerations, Limitations, and Opportunities." *Frontiers in Genetics* 10 (November): 995. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.00995.
- 57. Johnson, Katerina V.-A., and Philip W. J. Burnet. 2016. "Microbiome: Should We Diversify from Diversity?" *Gut Microbes* 7 (6): 455–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2016.1241933.
- 58. Karstens, Lisa, Mark Asquith, Sean Davin, Patrick Stauffer, Damien Fair, W. Thomas Gregory, James T. Rosenbaum, Shannon K. McWeeney, and Rahel Nardos. 2016. "Does the Urinary Microbiome Play a Role in Urgency Urinary Incontinence and Its Severity?" *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 6 (July). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2016.00078.
- 59. Komesu, Yuko M, Darrell L Dinwiddie, Holly E Richter, Emily S Lukacz, Vivian W Sung, Nazema Y Siddiqui, Halina M Zyczynski, et al. 2020. "Defining the Relationship Between Vaginal and Urinary Microbiomes." *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 222 (2): 154–e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2019.08.011.
- Komesu, Yuko M., Holly E. Richter, Darrell L. Dinwiddie, Nazema Y. Siddiqui, Vivian W. Sung, Emily S. Lukacz, Beri Ridgeway, et al. 2016. "Methodology for a Vaginal and Urinary Microbiome Study in Women with Mixed Urinary Incontinence." *International Urogynecology Journal* 28 (5): 711–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-016-3165-7.
- 61. Komesu, Yuko M, Ronald M Schrader, Rebecca G Rogers, and Loren H Ketai. 2011. "Urgency Urinary Incontinence in Women≥ 50 Years: Incidence, Remission and Predictors of Change." *Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery* 17 (1): 17. https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/SPV.0b013e31820446e6.
- 62. Konopka, Allan. 2009. "What Is Microbial Community Ecology?" *The ISME Journal* 3 (11): 1223–30. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2009.88.
- 63. Kurtz, Zachary, Christian Mueller, Emily Miraldi, and Richard Bonneau. 2019. *SpiecEasi: Sparse Inverse Covariance for Ecological Statistical Inference*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004226.
- 64. Lahti, Leo, and Sudarshan Shetty. n.d. "Microbiome R Package." https://bioconductor.org/packages/microbiome/.

- 65. Layeghifard, Mehdi, David M. Hwang, and David S. Guttman. 2017. "Disentangling Interactions in the Microbiome: A Network Perspective." *Trends in Microbiology* 25 (3): 217–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.11.008.
- 66. Li, A., S. P. Cornelius, Y.-Y. Liu, L. Wang, and A.-L. Barabási. 2017. "The Fundamental Advantages of Temporal Networks." *Science* 358 (6366): 1042–6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai7488.
- Li, Mingkai, Yan Sun, J. Marc Simard, and Toby C. Chai. 2011. "Increased Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid Type 1 (Trpv1) Signaling in Idiopathic Overactive Bladder Urothelial Cells." *Neurourology and Urodynamics* 30 (4): 606–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.21045.
- Li, Simone S., Ana Zhu, Vladimir Benes, Paul I. Costea, Rajna Hercog, Falk Hildebrand, Jaime Huerta-Cepas, et al. 2016. "Durable Coexistence of Donor and Recipient Strains After Fecal Microbiota Transplantation." *Science* 352 (6285): 586–89. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad8852.
- 69. Lidicker Jr, William Z. 1979. "A Clarification of Interactions in Ecological Systems." BioScience 29 (8): 475-77.
- Link, Bruce G, and Jo C Phelan. 2006. "Stigma and Its Public Health Implications." *The Lancet* 367 (9509): 528–29.
 Love, Michael I, Wolfgang Huber, and Simon Anders. 2014. "Moderated Estimation of Fold Change and Dispersion for
- RNA-Seq Data with DESeq2." Genome Biology 15 (12). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8.
- Lozano, Gabriel L., Juan I. Bravo, Manuel F. Garavito Diago, Hyun Bong Park, Amanda Hurley, S. Brook Peterson, Eric V. Stabb, Jason M. Crawford, Nichole A. Broderick, and Jo Handelsman. 2019. "Introducing THOR, a Model Microbiome for Genetic Dissection of Community Behavior." Edited by Gary M. Dunny. *mBio* 10 (2). https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.02846-18.
- 73. Lozupone, Catherine A, Micah Hamady, Scott T Kelley, and Rob Knight. 2007. "Quantitative and Qualitative β Diversity Measures Lead to Different Insights into Factors That Structure Microbial Communities." *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73 (5): 1576–85. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01996-06.
- 74. Ma, Bing, Larry J. Forney, and Jacques Ravel. 2012. "Vaginal Microbiome: Rethinking Health and Disease." *Annual Review of Microbiology* 66 (1): 371–89. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-092611-150157.
- Ma, Zhanshan. 2017. "The P/N (Positive-to-Negative Links) Ratio in Complex Networks A Promising in Silico Biomarker for Detecting Changes Occurring in the Human Microbiome." *Microbial Ecology* 75 (4): 1063–73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-017-1079-7.
- 76. MacIntyre, David A., Lynne Sykes, and Phillip R. Bennett. 2017. "The Human Female Urogenital Microbiome: Complexity in Normality." *Emerging Topics in Life Sciences* 1 (4): 363–72. https://doi.org/10.1042/etls20170042.
- 77. Maskell, Rosalind, Janet Allen, and Linda Pead. 1979. "The Puzzle of" Urethral Syndrome": A Possible Answer?" *The Lancet* 313 (8125): 1058–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(79)92953-2.
- 78. McMurdie, Paul J, and Susan Holmes. 2013. "phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data." *PloS One* 8 (4): e61217. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217.
- Medlock, Gregory L, Maureen A Carey, Dennis G McDuffie, Michael B Mundy, Natasa Giallourou, Jonathan R Swann, Glynis L Kolling, and Jason A Papin. 2018. "Inferring Metabolic Mechanisms of Interaction Within a Defined Gut Microbiota." *Cell Systems* 7 (3): 245–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2018.08.003.
- Milsom, Ian, D. Altman, R. Cartwright, M. C. Lapitan, R. Nelson, U. Sillén, and K. Tikkinen. 2013. "Epidemiology of Urinary Incontinence (UI) and Other Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms (LUTS), Pelvic Organ Prolapse (POP) and Anal Incontinence (AI)." In *Incontinence*, edited by Paul Abrams, Linda Cardozo, Saad Khoury, and Alan J Wein, 5th ed, 15– 107. France: ICUD-EAU. https://www.ics.org/Publications/ICI_5/INCONTINENCE.pdf.
- 81. Montastruc, Jean-Louis, Geneviève Durrieu, Agnès Sommet, Christine Damase-Michel, and Maryse Lapeyre-Mestre. 2010. "Anticholinergics, Antimuscarinics or Atropinics? About the Words in Pharmacology." *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 69 (5): 561–62. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.2010.03633.x.
- 82. Murtagh, Fionn, and Pierre Legendre. 2014. "Ward's Hierarchical Agglomerative Clustering Method: Which Algorithms Implement Ward's Criterion?" *Journal of Classification* 31 (3): 274–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00357-014-9161-z.
- 83. Nitti, Victor W, Zoe Kopp, Alex TL Lin, Kate H Moore, Michael Oefelein, and Ian W Mills. 2010. "Can We Predict Which Patient Will Fail Drug Treatment for Overactive Bladder? A Think Tank Discussion." *Neurourology and Urodynamics: Official Journal of the International Continence Society* 29 (4): 652–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.20910.
- Norton, PA, LD MacDonald, PM Sedgwick, and SL Stanton. 1988. "Distress and Delay Associated with Urinary Incontinence, Frequency, and Urgency in Women." *BMJ: British Medical Journal* 297 (6657): 1187. https://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.297.6657.1187.
- Nunn, Kenetta L, and Larry J Forney. 2016. "Focus: Microbiome: Unraveling the Dynamics of the Human Vaginal Microbiome." *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine* 89 (3): 940–4. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27698617.
- Oberhardt, Matthew A., Raphy Zarecki, Sabine Gronow, Elke Lang, Hans-Peter Klenk, Uri Gophna, and Eytan Ruppin. 2015. "Harnessing the Landscape of Microbial Culture Media to Predict New Organismmedia Pairings." *Nature Communications* 6 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9493.
- 87. Oksanen, Jari, F. Guillaume Blanchet, Michael Friendly, Roeland Kindt, Pierre Legendre, Dan McGlinn, Peter R. Minchin, et al. 2019. *Vegan: Community Ecology Package*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan.
- 88. Ouslander, Schnelle, Joseph G. 1995. "Incontinence in the Nursing Home." Annals of Internal Medicine 122 (6): 438. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-122-6-199503150-00007.

- Paramsothy, Sudarshan, Michael A Kamm, Nadeem O Kaakoush, Alissa J Walsh, Johan van den Bogaerde, Douglas Samuel, Rupert W L Leong, et al. 2017. "Multidonor Intensive Faecal Microbiota Transplantation for Active Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomised Placebo-Controlled Trial." *The Lancet* 389 (10075): 1218–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(17)30182-4.
- 90. Paulson, Joseph N, O Colin Stine, Héctor Corrada Bravo, and Mihai Pop. 2013. "Differential Abundance Analysis for Microbial Marker-Gene Surveys." *Nature Methods* 10 (12): 1200–1202. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2658.
- Pearce, Meghan M., Evann E. Hilt, Amy B. Rosenfeld, Michael J. Zilliox, Krystal Thomas-White, Cynthia Fok, Stephanie Kliethermes, et al. 2014. "The Female Urinary Microbiome: A Comparison of Women with and Without Urgency Urinary Incontinence." Edited by Martin J.Editor Blaser. *mBio* 5 (4). https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.01283-14.
- 92. Pearce, Meghan M, Michael J Zilliox, Amy B Rosenfeld, Krystal J Thomas-White, Holly E Richter, Charles W Nager, Anthony G Visco, et al. 2015. "The Female Urinary Microbiome in Urgency Urinary Incontinence." *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 213 (3): 347–e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.07.009.
- 93. Pedersen, Thomas Lin. 2020a. ggraph: An Implementation of Grammar of Graphics for Graphs and Networks. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ggraph.
- 94. ———. 2020b. tidygraph: A Tidy API for Graph Manipulation. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tidygraph.
- 95. Phillips, Katrina. 2008. "Human Microbiome Project Launched by NIH." *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 8 (2): 93. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(08)70009-4.
- 96. Pielou, Evelyn C. 1966. "The Measurement of Diversity in Different Types of Biological Collections." *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 13: 131–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-5193(66)90013-0.
- Poudel, R., A. Jumpponen, D. C. Schlatter, T. C. Paulitz, B. B. McSpadden Gardener, L. L. Kinkel, and K. A. Garrett. 2016. "Microbiome Networks: A Systems Framework for Identifying Candidate Microbial Assemblages for Disease Management." *Phytopathology* 106 (10): 1083–96. https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto-02-16-0058-fi.
- Powell, Lauren C., Shelagh M. Szabo, David Walker, and Katherine Gooch. 2018. "The Economic Burden of Overactive Bladder in the United States: A Systematic Literature Review." *Neurourology and Urodynamics* 37 (4): 1241–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.23477.
- Prill, R. J., J. Saez-Rodriguez, L. G. Alexopoulos, P. K. Sorger, and G. Stolovitzky. 2011. "Crowdsourcing Network Inference: The DREAM Predictive Signaling Network Challenge." *Science Signaling* 4 (189): mr7–mr7. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal.2002212.
- 100. Proctor, Lita M. 2012. "Human Microbiome Project, Goals, Components, Working Groups." *Encyclopedia of Metagenomics*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-6418-1_27-1.
- 101. Quast, Christian, Elmar Pruesse, Pelin Yilmaz, Jan Gerken, Timmy Schweer, Pablo Yarza, Jörg Peplies, and Frank Oliver Glöckner. 2012. "The Silva Ribosomal RNA Gene Database Project: Improved Data Processing and Web-Based Tools." *Nucleic Acids Research* 41 (D1): D590–D596. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219.
- 102. Randis, Tara M, and Adam J Ratner. 2019. "Gardnerella and Prevotella: Co-Conspirators in the Pathogenesis of Bacterial Vaginosis." *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 220 (7): 1085–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiy705.
- 103. Ravel, J., P. Gajer, Z. Abdo, G. M. Schneider, S. S. K. Koenig, S. L. McCulle, S. Karlebach, et al. 2011. "Vaginal Microbiome of Reproductive-Age Women." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108 (June): 4680–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1002611107.
- 104. R Core Team. 2019. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/.
- 105. Relman, David, and Stanley Falkow. 2001. "The Meaning and Impact of the Human Genome Sequence for Microbiology." *Trends in Microbiology* 9 (5): 206–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0966-842x(01)02041-8.
- 106. Robinson, Deirdre, and Katherine F Pearce. 1998. "Relationship Between Patient Reports of Urinary Incontinence Symptoms and Quality of Life Measures." *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 91 (2): 224–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0029-7844(97)00627-3.
- 107. Rosvall, M., and C. T. Bergstrom. 2008. "Maps of Random Walks on Complex Networks Reveal Community Structure." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105 (4): 1118–23. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0706851105.
- 108. Rothschild, Lynn J, and Rocco L Mancinelli. 2001. "Life in Extreme Environments." *Nature* 409 (6823): 1092.
- 109. Röttjers, Lisa, and Karoline Faust. 2018. "From Hairballs to Hypotheses Biological Insights from Microbial Networks." *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, July. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuy030.
- 110. Schliep, Klaus Peter. 2010. "phangorn: Phylogenetic Analysis in R." *Bioinformatics* 27 (4): 592–93. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq706.
- 111. Seta, Francesco De, Giuseppina Campisciano, Nunzia Zanotta, Giuseppe Ricci, and Manola Comar. 2019. "The Vaginal Community State Types Microbiome-Immune Network as Key Factor for Bacterial Vaginosis and Aerobic Vaginitis." *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10 (October). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02451.
- 112. Shade, Ashley. 2017. "Diversity Is the Question, Not the Answer." The ISME Journal 11 (1): 1–6.
- 113. Shumaker, S. A., J. F. Wyman, J. S. Uebersax, D. McClish, and J. A. Fantl. 1994. "Health-Related Quality of Life Measures for Women with Urinary Incontinence: The Incontinence Impact Questionnaire and the Urogenital Distress Inventory." *Quality of Life Research* 3 (5): 291–306. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00451721.
- 114. Shy, Michael, and Sophie G. Fletcher. 2013. "Objective Evaluation of Overactive Bladder: Which Surveys Should I Use?" *Current Bladder Dysfunction Reports* 8 (1): 45–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11884-012-0167-2.

- 115. Song, Stephanie D., Kalpana D. Acharya, Jade E. Zhu, Christen M. Deveney, Marina R. S. Walther-Antonio, Marc J. Tetel, and Nicholas Chia. 2020. "Daily Vaginal Microbiota Fluctuations Associated with Natural Hormonal Cycle, Contraceptives, Diet, and Exercise." Edited by Krishna Rao. *mSphere* 5 (4). https://doi.org/10.1128/msphere.00593-20.
- 116. Stapleton, Ann E. 2016. "The Vaginal Microbiota and Urinary Tract Infection." *Microbiology Spectrum* 4 (6). https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.uti-0025-2016.
- 117. Stav, Kobi, Peter L. Dwyer, and Anna Rosamilia. 2009. "Women Overestimate Daytime Urinary Frequency: The Importance of the Bladder Diary." *Journal of Urology* 181 (5): 2176–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2009.01.042.
- 118. Stewart, Walter F, Annemarie G Hirsh, H Lester Kirchner, Deseraé N Clarke, Marc J Litchtenfeld, and Vatché A Minassian. 2014. "Urinary Incontinence Incidence: Quantitative Meta-Analysis of Factors That Explain Variation." *The Journal of Urology* 191 (4): 996–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2013.10.050.
- 119. The Human Microbiome Project Consortium., Huttenhower, C., Gevers, D. *et al.* "Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome." *Nature* **486**, 207–214 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11234.
- 120. The NIH HMP Working Group, J. Peterson, S. Garges, M. Giovanni, P. McInnes, L. Wang, J. A. Schloss, et al. 2009. "The NIH Human Microbiome Project." *Genome Research* 19 (12): 2317–23. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.096651.109.
- 121. Thomas-White, Krystal, Megan Brady, Alan J. Wolfe, and Elizabeth R. Mueller. 2016. "The Bladder Is Not Sterile: History and Current Discoveries on the Urinary Microbiome." *Current Bladder Dysfunction Reports* 11 (1): 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11884-016-0345-8.
- 122. Thomas-White, Krystal, Samuel C. Forster, Nitin Kumar, Michelle Van Kuiken, Catherine Putonti, Mark D. Stares, Evann E. Hilt, Travis K. Price, Alan J. Wolfe, and Trevor D. Lawley. 2018. "Culturing of Female Bladder Bacteria Reveals an Interconnected Urogenital Microbiota." *Nature Communications* 9 (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03968-5.
- 123. Thomas-White, Krystal J., Evann E. Hilt, Cynthia Fok, Meghan M. Pearce, Elizabeth R. Mueller, Stephanie Kliethermes, Kristin Jacobs, et al. 2015. "Incontinence Medication Response Relates to the Female Urinary Microbiota." *International Urogynecology Journal* 27 (5): 723–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00192-015-2847-x.
- 124. Thomas-White, Krystal, Susanne Taege, Danielle Johansen, Evann E Hilt, Cynthia Brincat, Elizabeth R Mueller, Linda Brubaker, and Alan J Wolfe. 2017. "Bladder and Vaginal Microbiomes Have a Corresponding Shift Following Estrogen Treatment in Post-Menopausal Women." *The FASEB Journal* 31 (1_supplement): 940–4. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.31.1_supplement.940.4.
- 125. Thüroff, JW, E Chartier-Kastler, J Corcus, J Humke, U Jonas, H Palmtag, and EA Tanagho. 1998. "Medical Treatment and Medical Side Effects in Urinary Incontinence in the Elderly." *World Journal of Urology* 16: S48. https://doi.org/10.1007/pl00014139.
- 126. Veit-Rubin, N, KS Mahboobani, R Cartwright, A Ford, V Asfour, A Digesu, R Fernando, and V Khullar. 2018. "Relationship Between the Urinary, Urothelial and Vaginal Microbiome in Overactive Bladder." In *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 37:S41–S42. https://www.ics.org/2018/abstract/1.
- 127. Wang, Qiong, George M. Garrity, James M. Tiedje, and James R. Cole. 2007. "Naive Bayesian Classifier for Rapid Assignment of rRNA Sequences into the New Bacterial Taxonomy." *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 73 (16): 5261–7. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00062-07.
- 128. White, Bryan A, Douglas J Creedon, Karen E Nelson, and Brenda A Wilson. 2011. "The Vaginal Microbiome in Health and Disease." *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism* 22 (10): 389–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tem.2011.06.001.
- 129. Wickham, Hadley. 2016. *ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis*. Springer-Verlag New York. https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org.
- 130. Willis AD. "Rarefaction, Alpha Diversity, and Statistics." Front Microbiol. 2019 Oct 23;10:2407. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02407. PMID: 31708888; PMCID: PMC6819366. https://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02407.
- 131. Wolfe, A. J., E. Toh, N. Shibata, R. Rong, K. Kenton, M. FitzGerald, E. R. Mueller, et al. 2012. "Evidence of Uncultivated Bacteria in the Adult Female Bladder." *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 50 (4): 1376–83. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.05852-11.
- 132. Wright, Erik S. 2016. "Using DECIPHER V2.0 to Analyze Big Biological Sequence Data in R." R Journal 8 (1).
- 133. Wu, Jennifer M, Andrew F Hundley, Rebekah G Fulton, and Evan R Myers. 2009. "Forecasting the Prevalence of Pelvic Floor Disorders in US Women: 2010 to 2050." *Obstetrics & Gynecology* 114 (6): 1278–83. https://doi.org/10.1097/aog.0b013e3181c2ce96.
- 134. Wu, Peng, Yang Chen, Jie Zhao, Guihao Zhang, Jiawei Chen, Junpeng Wang, and Huijian Zhang. 2017. "Urinary Microbiome and Psychological Factors in Women with Overactive Bladder." *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 7: 488. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00488.
- 135. Wyman, Jean F, KL Burgio, and DK Newman. 2009. "Practical Aspects of Lifestyle Modifications and Behavioural Interventions in the Treatment of Overactive Bladder and Urgency Urinary Incontinence." *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 63 (8): 1177–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-1241.2009.02078.x.
- 136. Yoshida, Kazuki, and Alexander Bartel. 2020. *tableone: Create 'Table 1' to Describe Baseline Characteristics with or Without Propensity Score Weights*. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=tableone.
- 137. Zhang, Qing, Christopher Kwoh, Silvia Attorri, and Jill E. Clarridge. 2000. "Aerococcus Urinae in Urinary Tract Infections." *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 38 (4): 1703–5. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.38.4.1703-1705.2000.

138. Zmora, Niv, David Zeevi, Tal Korem, Eran Segal, and Eran Elinav. 2016. "Taking It Personally: Personalized Utilization of the Human Microbiome in Health and Disease." *Cell Host & Microbe* 19 (1): 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2015.12.016.